FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Washington, D.C., 20429 FORM 10-Q

[X] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUAN' For the quarterly period ended <u>June</u>		HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT O	F 1934		
OR [] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUAN For the transition period to	T TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF T	HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT O	F 1934		
Commission File Number: FDIC Certific	eate No. 90211				
HINGHAM	INSTITUTION (Exact name of registrant as specified in				
<u>Massachusetts</u> (State or other jurisdiction		<u>04-1442480</u> (I.R.S. Employer			
incorporation or organizati		Identification No.)			
55 Main Street, Hingham, Ma (Address of principal office	<u>02043</u> (Zip Code)				
	<u>(781) 749-2200</u> Registrant's telephone number, includin rities Registered pursuant to Section 12				
Title of each class					
Common Stock, \$1.00 par value per share	HIFS	NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC)		
Indicate by check mark whether the regist Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding and (2) has been subject to such filing requi	g 12 months (or for such shorter perio	I to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the d that the registrant was required to file suc			
Indicate by check mark whether the regi Interactive Data File required to be submitte preceding 12 months (or for such shorter pe	ed and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of	Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter)			
Indicate by check mark whether the regire reporting company, or an emerging grow reporting company," and "emerging growth	th company. See definitions of "la	arge accelerated filer," "accelerated filer,			
Large accelerated filer □ Non-accelerated filer □		Accelerated filer Smaller reporting company Emerging Growth Company	X X 		
If an emerging growth company, indicate complying with any new or revised financial					
Indicate by check mark whether the registra	nt is a shell company (as defined in R	ule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes □ No 🗵			
The number of shares outstanding of each 2020 was 2,136,900.	of the registrant's common stock, \$1	.00 par value per share, outstanding as of	`August 5		

Table of Contents

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION	3
Item 1 – Financial Statements	3
Consolidated Balance Sheets	3
Consolidated Statements of Net Income and Comprehensive Income	4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	7
Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements	9
Item 2 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	21
Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	37
Item 4 – Controls and Procedures	37
PART II – OTHER INFORMATION	38
Item 1 – Legal Proceedings	38
Item 1A – Risk Factors	38
Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	38
Item 3 – Defaults Upon Senior Securities	38
Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures	38
Item 5 – Other Information	38
Item 6 – Exhibits	38
Signatures	39
Certifications	40
Certifications pursuant to 18U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	42

PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1 – Financial Statements

HINGHAM INSTITUTION FOR SAVINGS AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets

	December 31, 2019	June 30, 2020						
(Unaudited)	(In Thousands, except share amounts)							
ASSETS								
Cash and due from banks	\$ 9,057	\$ 7,365						
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments	243,090	214,489						
Cash and cash equivalents	252,147	221,854						
Securities available for sale, at fair value	11	9						
Equity securities, at fair value	47,175	54,795						
Federal Home Loan Bank stock, at cost	24,890	20,390						
Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of								
\$15,376 at December 31, 2019 and								
\$16,458 at June 30, 2020	2,227,062	2,381,780						
Foreclosed assets	_	3,811						
Bank-owned life insurance	12,727	12,844						
Premises and equipment, net	14,548	15,358						
Accrued interest receivable	4,926	5,054						
Deferred income tax asset, net	1,213	1,729						
Other assets	5,647	6,215						
Total assets	\$ 2,590,346	\$ 2,723,839						
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY								
Deposits:								
Interest-bearing	\$ 1,583,280	\$ 1,764,714						
Non-interest-bearing	237,554	289,574						
Total deposits	1,820,834	2,054,288						
Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances	505,200	385,431						
Mortgage payable	687	_						
Mortgagors' escrow accounts	7,815	8,185						
Accrued interest payable	960	282						
Other liabilities	7,627	11,605						
Total liabilities	2,343,123	2,459,791						
Stockholders' equity:								
Preferred stock, \$1.00 par value,								
2,500,000 shares authorized; none issued	_	_						
Common stock, \$1.00 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized; 2,135,750 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and								
2,136,900 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2020	2,136	2,137						
Additional paid-in capital	12,234	12,352						
Undivided profits	232,853	249,559						
Total stockholders' equity	247,223	264,048						
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$2,590,346	\$						

Consolidated Statements of Net Income and Comprehensive Income

Image: Properties of the part		Three Months Ended				Six Months Ended				
Interest and dividend income: Interest and dividend income:								,		
Net material dividend incomes Same and dividend income		2019			2020		2019		2020	
Loans \$ 24,816 \$ 25,856 \$ 47,896 \$ 51,666 Equity securities 496 463 385 961 Federal Reserve and other short-term investments 12,62 55.6 3,138 797 Total interest and dividend income 26,941 26,375 52,070 53,324 Interest expenses: Total interest expense 3,539 44,392 13,220 10,338 Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances 3,539 942 6,667 3,889 Mortingge payable 11 — 22 3 Total interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,16 31,18 33,33 Other income (loss) 1 2,041 31,18 33,33 320 Increase in eash surender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170	(Unaudited)	(Iı	n Tho	usa	nds, excep	ept per share amounts)				
Equity securities 496 463 985 961 Federal Reserve and other short-term investments 1,629 56 3,189 797 Total interest and dividend income 26,941 26,375 52,070 53,324 Interest expense: 3,839 42 56,667 3,889 Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances 3,539 942 6,667 3,889 Mortgage payable 10,624 5,334 19,909 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Proxision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,33 Obtain come (loss): 19 148 385 320 Unterest income, after provision for loan losses 19 148 385 320 Unterest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,81 37,33 Obtain come service fees on deposits 1 9 148	Interest and dividend income:									
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments 1,629 56 3,189 797 Total interest and dividend income 26,941 26,375 52,070 53,324 Interest expenses: 3,000 4,392 13,220 10,333 Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances 3,539 942 6,667 3,889 Mortgage payable 11 — 22 3 Total interest expense 10,624 5,334 19,090 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,18 37,036 Other income (loss): 15,762 20,416 31,18 37,036 Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930	Loans	\$ 24,	816	\$	25,856	\$	47,896	\$	51,566	
Total interest and dividend income 26,941 26,375 52,070 53,324 Interest expense:	Equity securities		496		463		985		961	
Deposits	Federal Reserve and other short-term investments	1,	629		56	_	3,189	_	797	
Deposits 7,074 4,392 13,220 10,333 Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances 3,539 942 6,667 3,889 Mortgage payable 11 — 22 3 Total interest expense 10,624 5,334 19,909 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy a	Total interest and dividend income	26,	941		26,375		52,070		53,324	
Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances 3,339 942 6,667 3,889 Mortgage payable 11 — 22 3 Total interest expense 10,624 5,334 19,909 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): — — 8 20 1,163 3,181 37,336 Other income (loss): — — 9 148 385 320 1,176 1,176 1,176 1,176 1,179	Interest expense:	<u></u>				_				
Mortgage payable 11 — 22 3 Total interest expense 10,624 5,334 19,909 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 30,909 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): — 20,416 31,81 37,336 Other income (loss): — 148 385 320 Increase in each surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — 9 18 83 81 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 10 14 69,30 4,039 4,144 Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — 7,62 4,631 4,039 4,627 4,627	Deposits	7,	074		4,392		13,220		10,333	
Total interest expense 10,624 5,334 19,909 14,225 Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): 31,702 20,416 31,81 37,336 Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in eash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — 218 Miscellaneous 4,43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 408) Operating expenses: 31,77 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data p	Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances	3,	539		942		6,667		3,889	
Net interest income 16,317 21,041 32,161 39,099 Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,140 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 3,181 3,181 4,030 4,038 8.18 8.18 8.1 <	Mortgage payable		11				22		3	
Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,365 Other income (loss): Usual memory service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104	Total interest expense	10,0	624		5,334		19,909	_	14,225	
Provision for loan losses 555 625 980 1,763 Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,81 37,336 Other income (loss): Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets - - - - 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4631 408 Operating expenses: 31,77 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284	Net interest income	16,	317	_	21,041	_	32,161	_	39,099	
Net interest income, after provision for loan losses 15,762 20,416 31,181 37,336 Other income (loss): Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67	Provision for loan losses									
Other income (loss): Toustomer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 <td>Net interest income, after provision for loan losses</td> <td>15,</td> <td>762</td> <td>_</td> <td>20,416</td> <td>_</td> <td>31,181</td> <td>_</td> <td></td>	Net interest income, after provision for loan losses	15,	762	_	20,416	_	31,181	_		
Customer service fees on deposits 199 148 385 320 Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: 83 81 408 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>-</td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td></td> <td>_</td> <td></td>				-		_		_		
Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: — — — 6,624 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 929 929 920			199		148		385		320	
insurance 57 59 124 117 Gain (loss) on equity securities, net 1,170 6,930 4,039 (1,144) Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: 8 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,93	-									
Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Forcelosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income and comprehensive income 8,706 16,338 18,530 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134			57		59		124		117	
Gain on disposal of fixed assets — — — — — — 218 Miscellaneous 43 28 83 81 Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Forcelosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income and comprehensive income 8,706 16,338 18,530 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134	Gain (loss) on equity securities, net	1,	170		6,930		4,039		(1,144)	
Total other income (loss) 1,469 7,165 4,631 (408) Operating expenses: Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Basic 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 2 4,08	Gain on disposal of fixed assets		_				_			
Operating expenses: Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: B	Miscellaneous		43		28		83		81	
Salaries and employee benefits 3,177 3,287 6,324 6,667 Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income 8,706 16,338 18,530 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8.69 8.66 Basic 4.08 7.65 8.	Total other income (loss)	1,	469		7,165	_	4,631		(408)	
Occupancy and equipment 447 474 901 929 Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income 8,706 16,338 18,530 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: Basic \$\text{8.69}\$ \$\text{8.67}\$ \$\text{8.69}\$ \$\text{8.69}\$ \$\text{8.69}\$ \$\text{8.69}\$ \$\text{8.69}\$ \$8.6	Operating expenses:							_		
Data processing 301 475 735 964 Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earmings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8.69 8.66	Salaries and employee benefits	3,	177		3,287		6,324		6,667	
Deposit insurance 265 254 508 437 Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income 8,706 16,338 18,530 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8.69 8.66	Occupancy and equipment		447		474		901		929	
Marketing 177 104 309 284 Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$8,706 \$16,338 \$18,530 \$18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8.69 8.67	Data processing		301		475		735		964	
Foreclosure 44 28 67 154 Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8.69 8.69	Deposit insurance		265		254		508		437	
Other general and administrative 756 756 1,465 1,563 Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Marketing		177		104		309		284	
Total operating expenses 5,167 5,378 10,309 10,998 Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Foreclosure		44		28		67		154	
Income before income taxes 12,064 22,203 25,503 25,930 Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 \$ 8.69 8.67	Other general and administrative	<u> </u>	756		756	_	1,465	_	1,563	
Income tax provision 3,358 5,865 6,973 7,407 Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Total operating expenses	5,	167		5,378		10,309		10,998	
Net income and comprehensive income \$ 8,706 \$ 16,338 \$ 18,530 \$ 18,523 Weighted average common shares outstanding: 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Income before income taxes	12,0	064		22,203	_	25,503	_	25,930	
Weighted average common shares outstanding: Basic 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: 8 4.08 7.65 8 8.69 8.67	Income tax provision	3,	358		5,865		6,973		7,407	
Basic 2,134 2,137 2,133 2,137 Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: Basic \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Net income and comprehensive income	\$ 8,	706	\$	16,338	\$	18,530	\$	18,523	
Diluted 2,182 2,176 2,182 2,180 Earnings per share: Basic \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Weighted average common shares outstanding:									
Earnings per share: Basic \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Basic	2,	134		2,137		2,133		2,137	
Basic \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Diluted	2,	182	_	2,176	_	2,182	_	2,180	
Basic \$ 4.08 \$ 7.65 \$ 8.69 \$ 8.67	Earnings per share:									
Diluted \$ 3.99 \$ 7.50 \$ 8.49 \$ 8.50	Basic	\$ 4	1.08	\$	7.65	\$	8.69	\$	8.67	
	Diluted			\$		\$		\$		

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2020

	Additional Common Paid-In Stock Capital		_	ndivided Profits	Sto	Total ockholders' Equity	
			(In Th	10usa	ınds)		
(Unaudited)							
Balance at December 31, 2018	\$ 2,133	\$	11,863	\$	198,580	\$	212,576
Comprehensive income	_		_		18,530		18,530
Share-based compensation expense	_		47		_		47
Stock options exercised	1		70		_		71
Cash dividends declared – common							
(\$0.77 per share)	 				(1,644)		(1,644)
Balance at June 30, 2019	\$ 2,134	\$_	11,980	\$_	215,466	\$_	229,580
Balance at December 31, 2019	\$ 2,136	\$	12,234	\$	232,853	\$	247,223
Comprehensive income	_				18,523		18,523
Share-based compensation expense			38		_		38
Stock options exercised	1		80				81
Cash dividends declared – common							
(\$0.85 per share)	 	_	<u> </u>	_	(1,817)		(1,817)
Balance at June 30, 2020	\$ 2,137	\$	12,352	\$	249,559	\$	264,048

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity For the Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 and 2020

			Ac	lditional				Total
	Cor	Common		Paid-In		ndivided	Sto	ckholders'
	S1	tock	(Capital		Profits		Equity
				(In Th	ousa	ınds)		
(Unaudited)								
Balance at March 31, 2019	\$	2,134	\$	11,954	\$	207,593	\$	221,681
Comprehensive income		_		_		8,706		8,706
Share-based compensation expense		_		26		_		26
Cash dividends declared – common								
(\$0.39 per share)			_		_	(833)		(833)
Balance at June 30, 2019	\$	2,134	\$_	11,980	\$_	215,466	\$	229,580
Balance at March 31, 2020	\$	2,137	\$	12,322	\$	234,140	\$	248,599
Comprehensive income						16,338		16,338
Share-based compensation expense		_		20		_		20
Stock options exercised		_		10		_		10
Cash dividends declared – common								
(\$0.43 per share)					_	(919)		(919)
Balance at June 30, 2020	\$	2,137	\$_	12,352	\$_	249,559	\$	264,048

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

	Six Months Ended							
	June 30,							
	2	2019	2020					
(Unaudited)		(In Thou	sands)					
Cash flows from operating activities:								
Net income	\$	18,530	\$	18,523				
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:								
Provision for loan losses		980		1,763				
Amortization of deferred loan origination costs, net		313		287				
Share-based compensation expense		47		38				
Deferred income tax provision (benefit)		890		(516)				
Depreciation and amortization of premises and equipment		325		346				
Increase in cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance		(124)		(117)				
(Gain) loss on equity securities, net		(4,039)		1,144				
Gain on disposal of fixed assets		_		(218)				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:								
Accrued interest receivable and other assets		(3,684)		(1,377)				
Accrued interest payable and other liabilities		1,211	_	4,538				
Net cash provided by operating activities		14,449	_	24,411				
Cash flows from investing activities:								
Activity in available for sale securities:								
Maturities, payments and calls		2		2				
Activity in equity securities:								
Proceeds from sales		26		5,609				
Purchases		(2,389)		(13,903)				
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank stock		(19,424)		(9,022)				
Proceeds from redemption of Federal Home Loan Bank stock		16,889		13,522				
Loans originated, net of payments received		(163,135)		(160,368)				
Additions to premises and equipment		(182)		(1,282)				
Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment			_	344				
Net cash used in investing activities		(168,213)	_	(165,098)				

(continued)

Item 1 – Financial Statements (continued)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (concluded)

Six Months Ended June 30,

	June 30,					
		2019		2020		
(Unaudited)	(In Thousands)					
Cash flows from financing activities:						
Increase in deposits		85,150		233,454		
Increase (decrease) in mortgagors' escrow accounts		(128)		370		
Cash dividends paid on common stock		(2,666)		(3,055)		
Proceeds from stock options exercised Net decrease in Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances with		71		81		
maturities of three months or less		(162,000)		(38,000)		
Proceeds from Federal Home Loan Bank advances with maturities of more than three months Repayment of Federal Home Loan Bank advances with maturities		269,900		102,431		
of more than three months		(4,200)		(184,200)		
Repayment of mortgage payable		(31)		(687)		
Net cash provided by financing activities	_	186,096	-	110,394		
Net change in cash and cash equivalents		32,332		(30,293)		
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period	_	295,975	-	252,147		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period	\$	328,307	\$_	221,854		
Supplementary information:						
Interest paid on deposit accounts	\$	13,816	\$	10,572		
Interest paid on Federal Home Loan Bank and Federal Reserve Bank advances and mortgage payable		6,289		4,331		
Income taxes paid		7,387		3,706		
Non-cash activities:						
Real estate acquired through foreclosure	\$	_	\$	3,600		

Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements June 30, 2019 and 2020

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated interim financial statements of Hingham Institution for Savings (the "Bank") have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") for interim financial statements and with the instructions to U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial statements.

Financial information as of June 30, 2020, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2020, is unaudited and, in the opinion of management, reflects all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of such information. Such adjustments were of a normal recurring nature. Interim results are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the entire year. The unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Bank for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed on Form 10-K.

Earnings per common share

Basic earnings per share represent income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect additional shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive potential shares had been issued, as well as any adjustment to income that would result from the assumed issuance. Potential shares that may be issued by the Bank relate solely to outstanding stock options and are determined using the treasury stock method. The amount of excess tax benefit that would be credited to additional paid-in capital assuming exercise of the options is not considered in the proceeds when applying the treasury stock method.

Earnings per common share have been computed based on the following:

	Three Months Ended June 30,		Six Month June		
	2019	2020	2019	2020	
		(In Thous	sands)		
Average number of shares outstanding used to calculate basic earnings					
per share	2,134	2,137	2,133	2,137	
Effect of dilutive options	48	39	49	43	
Average number of shares outstanding used to calculate diluted earnings					
per share	2,182	2,176	2,182	2,180	

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, there were 2,000 antidilutive options. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, there were 4,000 antidilutive options.

Fair value hierarchy

The Bank groups its assets measured at fair value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value, as follows:

- Level 1 Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 1 assets generally include debt and equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. Valuations are obtained from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets.
- Level 2 Valuation is based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets.
- Level 3 Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets. Level 3 assets include those whose value is determined using unobservable inputs to pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as assets for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

Loans

The Bank's loan portfolio includes residential real estate, commercial real estate, construction, home equity, commercial and consumer segments. A substantial majority of the loan portfolio is secured by real estate in the southeastern Massachusetts area. The remainder of the real estate loan portfolio is located in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area ("WMA"). The ability of the Bank's debtors to honor their contracts is dependent upon the real estate, construction, and general economic conditions in these markets.

Loans that management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or pay-off are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal balances adjusted for charge-offs, the allowance for loan losses, and net deferred fees or costs on originated loans. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method.

The accrual of interest on mortgage and commercial loans is discontinued at the time a loan is 90 days past due (the loan is in default) unless the credit is well-secured and in the process of collection. Personal loans are typically charged off no later than becoming 180 days past due. Past due status is based on contractual terms of the loan. In all cases, loans are placed on non-accrual or charged off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.

All interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on non-accrual or charged off is reversed against interest income. The interest on these loans is accounted for on the cash-basis or cost-recovery method, until qualifying for return to accrual status. Loans are returned to accrual status when all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future payments are reasonably assured.

Allowance for loan losses

The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for loan losses charged to earnings. Loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the allowance when collected.

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management. This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to significant revision as more information becomes available. The allowance consists of general, allocated and unallocated loss components, as further discussed below.

General component

The general component of the allowance for loan losses is based on historical loss experience adjusted for qualitative factors stratified by loan segment. Management uses a rolling average of historical losses based on a time frame appropriate to capture relevant loss data for each loan segment. This time frame is currently two years for all loan categories, except for residential real estate which was increased to four years beginning with the quarter ended March 31, 2020, to capture the longer term loss track record of the Bank in this segment. This historical loss factor is adjusted for the following qualitative factors: levels/trends in delinquencies; trends in volume and terms of loans; effects of changes in risk selection and underwriting standards and other changes in lending policies, procedures and practices; experience/ability/depth of lending management and staff; national and local economic trends and conditions; industry conditions and effects of changes in credit concentrations. Besides increasing the historical loss period for residential real estate loans as discussed above, there were no changes in the Bank's policies or methodology pertaining to the general component of the allowance for loan losses during the six months ended June 30, 2020.

The qualitative factors are determined based on the various risk characteristics of each loan segment. Risk characteristics relevant to each portfolio segment are as follows:

Residential real estate – The Bank generally does not originate loans with a loan-to-value ratio greater than 80 percent (without private mortgage insurance). All loans in this segment are collateralized by residential real estate that is owner-occupied at the time of origination and repayment is dependent on the credit quality of the individual borrower. The overall health of the economy, including unemployment rates and housing prices, will have an effect on the credit quality in this segment. The Bank only originates these loans in Massachusetts.

Commercial real estate – Loans in this segment are primarily secured by income-producing properties throughout Massachusetts and in the greater Washington D.C. metropolitan area. Underwriting and portfolio management policies are the same for both markets. Generally, loan amounts do not exceed 75% of the appraised value of the collateral. The underlying cash flows generated by the properties are adversely impacted by a downturn in the economy as evidenced by increased vacancy rates which, in turn, will have an effect on the credit quality in this segment. Management obtains rent rolls annually and regularly monitors the cash flows of these loans.

Construction – Loans in this segment include both owner-occupied and speculative real estate development loans for which payment is derived from the sale of the property. Credit risk is affected by cost overruns, time to sell at an adequate price, the overall health of the economy and market conditions. The Bank only originates these loans in Massachusetts.

Home equity – Loans in this segment include equity lines of credit and second mortgage loans, and are generally collateralized by second liens on residential real estate. Repayment is dependent on the credit quality of the individual borrower. The Bank generally does not originate loans with combined loan-to-value ratios greater than 70% when taking into account both the balance of the home equity loans and the first mortgage loan. Similar to residential real estate, the overall health of the economy, including unemployment rates and housing prices, will have an effect on the credit quality in this segment. The Bank only originates these loans in Massachusetts.

Commercial – Loans in this segment are made to businesses and are generally secured by assets of the business. Repayment is expected from the cash flows of the business. A weakened economy, and resultant decreased consumer spending, will have an effect on the credit quality in this segment. These loans are not a focus of the Bank's origination program, and are originated only in Massachusetts. This segment includes loans originated under the Small Business Administration's ("SBA") Paycheck Protection Program ("PPP Program"). SBA PPP Program loans are excluded from the allowance for loan loss calculation as they are 100% guaranteed by the SBA.

Consumer – Loans in this segment are generally unsecured and repayment is dependent on the credit quality of the individual borrower. These loans are not a focus of the Bank's origination program, and are originated only in Massachusetts.

Allocated component

The allocated component relates to loans that are classified as impaired. Impairment is measured on a loan-by-loan basis for residential real estate, commercial real estate, construction, home equity and commercial loans. A loan is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that a creditor will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement. Impaired loans are generally maintained on a non-accrual basis. Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status, collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due. Loans that experience insignificant payment delays and payment shortfalls generally are not classified as impaired. Management determines the significance of payment delays and payment shortfalls on a case-by-case basis, taking into consideration all of the circumstances surrounding the loan and the borrower, including the length of the delay, the reasons for the delay, the borrower's prior payment record, and the amount of the shortfall in relation to the principal and interest owed. Impairment is measured on a loan-by-loan basis by either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan's effective interest rate, or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent. An allowance is established when the discounted cash flows (or collateral value) of the impaired loan is lower than the carrying amount of that loan. Large groups of smaller balance homogeneous loans, such as consumer loans, are collectively evaluated for impairment.

The Bank periodically may agree to modify the contractual terms of loans. When a loan is modified and a concession is made to a borrower experiencing financial difficulty, the modification is considered a troubled debt restructuring ("TDR"). All TDRs are initially classified as impaired.

<u>Unallocated component</u>

At times, the Bank may maintain an unallocated component of the allowance for loan loss based on market conditions and in accordance with GAAP. The Bank's Allowance for Loan Loss Policy limits the amount of the unallocated component to 5% of the recorded allowance for loan losses. At June 30, 2020, the Bank's allowance for loan losses included an unallocated amount of \$206,000 which was within the Bank's policy. There was no unallocated portion within the Bank's allowance for loan losses at December 31, 2019. The unallocated balance is allocated across the non-impaired loan categories presented in Note 6.

Leases

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification *Topic 842, Leases*, the Bank records operating lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and operating lease liabilities relating to operating leases for some of its banking offices. These lease agreements have lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for separately. The ROU asset is included in other assets and the operating lease liability is included in other liabilities on the Bank's Consolidated Balance Sheets. At June 30, 2020, both the ROU asset and the corresponding operating lease liability were \$1.2 million. Operating lease costs for both the quarter ended June 30, 2019 and 2020 were \$87,000. Operating lease costs for both the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2020 were \$174,000.

ROU assets represent the Bank's right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Bank's obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. As most of the Bank's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Bank uses the Bank's incremental borrowing rate, which is generally the Federal Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") classic advance rate, based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. The Bank will use the implicit rate when readily determinable. The weighted average discount rate for operating leases as of June 30, 2020 was 2.9%. The Bank's lease terms may include options to extend when it is reasonably certain that the Bank will exercise that option. The initial term of these lease agreements is five years, and the agreements contain up to three extension options for subsequent five year terms. Management considered options that have been exercised or are reasonably certain to be exercised in the recognition of the operating lease ROU asset. The weighted average remaining lease term for operating leases as of June 30, 2020 is 5.0 years. For operating leases, lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The maturities of lease liabilities are as follows at June 30, 2020:

Years	Aı	Amount					
	(In Tl	nousands)					
2020 (remaining six months)	\$	169					
2021		256					
2022		245					
2023		253					
2024		240					
Thereafter		183					
Total lease payments		1,346					
Imputed interest		(98)					
Total lease liability	\$	1,248					

NOTE 2: COMMITMENTS

At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, outstanding loan commitments were as follows:

	Dec	ember 31, 2019	·	June 30, 2020
		(In Tho	usands)	
Unused lines of credit	\$	125,519	\$	132,011
Commitments to originate loans		90,026		65,655
Unadvanced funds on construction loans		71,657		83,665
Standby letters of credit		25		25
Total	\$	287,227	\$	281,356

At June 30, 2020, the Bank had the following contractual obligations outstanding:

	 Payments Due by Year												
					hree to		re than						
	 Total	(One Year	Three Years						Fiv	ve Years	Five	e Years
	(In thousands)												
Certificates of deposit	\$ 1,035,236	\$	949,958	\$	69,279	\$	15,999	\$					
Federal Home Loan Bank advances	373,431		373,431		_		_		_				
Federal Reserve Bank advances	12,000		12,000		_		_		_				
Data processing agreements (1)	2,819		914		1,829		76		_				

(1) Estimated payments subject to change based on transaction volume.

NOTE 3: DIVIDEND DECLARATION

On June 24, 2020, the Board of Directors declared a cash dividend of \$0.43 per share to all stockholders of record as of July 6, 2020, payable July 15, 2020.

NOTE 4: FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Determination of Fair Value

The Bank uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and to determine fair value disclosures. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is best determined based upon quoted market prices. However, in many instances, there are no quoted market prices for the Bank's assets and liabilities. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the asset or liability.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below. There are no liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

	I	Level 1	Level 2		Level 3		Total 1	Fair Value					
	(In Thousands)												
<u>December 31, 2019</u>													
Securities available for sale	\$	_	\$	11	\$	_	\$	11					
Equity securities		43,922		3,253				47,175					
Total	\$	43.922	\$	3,264	\$	_	\$	47,186					
<u>June 30, 2020</u>													
Securities available for sale	\$	_	\$	9	\$	_	\$	9					
Equity securities		51,385		3,410		_		54,795					
Total	\$	51,385	\$	3,419	\$		\$	54,804					

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis

The Bank may also be required, from time to time, to measure certain other assets on a non-recurring basis in accordance with GAAP. These adjustments to fair value usually result from application of lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or write-downs of individual assets.

The following table summarizes the fair value hierarchy used to determine each adjustment and the carrying value of the related individual assets as of December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020. There are no liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020.

	December 31, 2019	Six Months Ended June 30, 2019
	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3	Total Losses
	(In Thousands)	(In Thousands)
Impaired loans	<u>\$ — \$ — \$ 4,280</u>	<u> </u>
	June 30, 2020	Six Months Ended June 30, 2020
	Level 1 Level 2 Level 3	Total Losses
	(In Thousands)	(In Thousands)
Foreclosed assets	<u>\$</u> \$ \$ 3,811	\$ 681

There were no losses recorded on assets measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis during the three months ended June 30, 2019 and 2020.

Losses applicable to impaired loans and foreclosed assets are estimated using the appraised value of the underlying collateral, discounting factors and other factors. The losses applicable to impaired loans are not recorded directly as an adjustment to current earnings or comprehensive income, but rather as a component in determining the overall adequacy of the allowance for loan losses. Management adjustments to the estimated fair value of impaired loans may result in increases or decreases to the provision for loan losses. Management will consider the circumstances of the individual loan or foreclosed asset when determining any estimated losses. This may include a review of an independent appraisal and if deemed necessary, an updated appraisal will be performed.

Summary of Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The estimated fair values, and related carrying amounts, of the Bank's financial instruments are as follows. Certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments are exempt from disclosure requirements. Accordingly, the aggregate fair value amounts presented herein do not represent the underlying fair value of the Bank.

	(Carrying	Fair Value							
		Amount		Level 1]	Level 2		Level 3		
				(In Tho	ousand	s)				
<u>December 31, 2019</u>										
Financial assets:										
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	252,147	\$	252,147	\$		\$	_		
Debt securities available for sale		11				11		_		
Equity securities		47,175		43,922		3,253		_		
Federal Home Loan Bank stock		24,890						24,890		
Loans, net		2,227,062				_		2,253,927		
Accrued interest receivable		4,926		_		_		4,926		
Financial liabilities:										
Deposits	\$	1,820,834	\$	_	\$	_	\$	1,827,110		
Federal Home Loan Bank advances		505,200		_		505,928		_		
Mortgage payable		687				´ —		689		
Mortgagors' escrow accounts		7,815				_		7,815		
Accrued interest payable		960		_		_		960		
June 30, 2020										
Financial assets:										
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	221,854	\$	221,854	\$	_	\$	_		
Debt securities available for sale		9		_		9		_		
Equity securities		54,795		51,385		3,410				
Federal Home Loan Bank stock		20,390		_		_		20,390		
Loans, net		2,381,780		_		_		2,417,599		
Accrued interest receivable		5,054		_		_		5,054		
Financial liabilities:										
Deposits	\$	2,054,288	\$	_	\$		\$	2,059,087		
Federal Home Loan Bank advances		373,431		_		374,040		· —		
Federal Reserve Bank advances		12,000		_		12,000		_		
Mortgagors' escrow accounts		8,185		_		· —		8,185		
Accrued interest payable		282				_		282		

NOTE 5: SECURITIES

Securities available for sale

At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, all securities available for sale were residential mortgage-backed securities. Both the amortized cost and fair value of the residential mortgage-backed securities were \$11,000 and \$9,000 at December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, respectively. There were no gross unrealized gains or gross unrealized losses at either December 31, 2019 or June 30, 2020.

At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, all debt securities were pledged to secure Federal Home Loan Bank advances. There were no sales of securities available for sale during the six months ended June 30, 2019 or 2020.

Equity securities

At June 30, 2020, equity securities include a \$8.6 million investment in the Community Reinvestment Act Qualified Investment Fund and \$46.2 million investment in equity securities in the banking, insurance, rating agencies, payments, technology and industrial sectors.

There were no securities sold in the three months ended June 30, 2019. During the six months ended June 30, 2019, proceeds from sales of equity securities amounted to \$26,000. Unrealized gains recognized during the three and six months ended June 30, 2019, on equity securities still held at June 30, 2019, totaled \$1.2 million and \$4.0 million, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, proceeds from sales of equity securities amounted to \$1.2 million and \$5.6 million, respectively. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2020, the Bank recognized \$6.8 million in unrealized gains and \$762,000 in unrealized losses on equity securities still held at June 30, 2020, respectively.

NOTE 6: LOANS

A summary of the balances of loans are as follows:

	Dec	cember 31, 2019	June 30, 2020							
	(In Thousands)									
Real estate loans:										
Residential	\$	695,919	\$	678,130						
Commercial		1,327,126		1,519,304						
Construction		186,094		159,677						
Home equity		29,605		28,603						
Total real estate loans		2,238,744		2,385,714						
Other loans:										
Commercial		196		9,248						
Consumer		586		501						
Total other loans		782		9,749						
Total loans		2,239,526		2,395,463						
Allowance for loan losses		(15,376)		(16,458)						
Net deferred loan origination costs		2,912		2,775						
Loans, net	\$	2,227,062	\$	2,381,780						

A blanket lien on "qualified collateral," defined principally as 64-77% of the carrying value of first mortgage loans on certain owner-occupied residential property, 77% of the carrying value of first mortgage loans on certain non-owner-occupied residential property, 76% of the carrying value of first mortgage loans on certain multi-family residential property and 65% of the carrying value of loans on certain commercial property, is used to secure borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of Boston. Additionally, a blanket lien on home equity and second mortgage loans is used to secure borrowings from the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston through its discount window. At June 30, 2020 the Bank had \$12.0 million of such Federal Reserve Bank borrowings outstanding. At December 31, 2019 the bank had no Federal Reserve Bank borrowings outstanding.

The following is a summary of past due and non-accrual loans at December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020:

	30-59 Days Past Due		89 Days st Due		Days or Past Due	Total ast Due	Loans on Non-accrual	
December 31, 2019				(In Th	ousands)			
Residential real estate	\$	4,918	\$ 1,326	\$	4,768	\$ 11,012	\$	5,092
Commercial real estate		1,125			150	1,275		508
Home equity		66	_			66		_
Commercial		1			_	1		_
Total loans	\$	6,110	\$ 1,326	\$	4,918	\$ 12,354	\$	5,600
June 30, 2020								
Residential real estate	\$	_	\$ _	\$	966	\$ 966	\$	1,154
Commercial real estate		408	1,567		150	2,125		504
Construction		_	_		925	925		925
Home equity		_	_		32	32		92
Consumer		1_				 1_		
Total loans	\$	409	\$ 1,567	\$	2,073	\$ 4,049	\$	2,675

At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, there were no loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing interest.

An analysis of the activity in the allowance for loan losses, by segment, for the periods ended June 30, 2019 and 2020 follows:

	Residential Real Estate	Commercial Real Estate	Construction	Home Equity n Thousands)	Commercial	Consumer	Total
Six months ended June 30, 2019 Balance December 31, 2018	\$ 2,674	\$ 9,687	\$ 1,337	\$ 105	\$ 1	\$ 4	\$ 13,808
Provision (credit) for loan losses Loans charged off Recoveries of loans	(219)	801 (3)	403	(15)	<u>1</u>	9	980 (3)
previously charged off Balance June 30, 2019	\$1	\$	\$	\$90	\$2	\$1	\$ 14,787
Three months ended June 30, 2019 Balance March 31, 2019 Provision (credit)	\$ 2,609	\$ 9,933	\$ 1,582	\$ 102	\$ 2	\$ 4	\$ 14,232
for loan losses Loans charged off Recoveries of loans	(153)	552 —	158	(12) —	_ _	10	555 —
previously charged off Balance June 30, 2019	\$\$	\$	\$	\$ 90	\$2	\$	\$ 14,787
Six months ended June 30, 2020 Balance December 31, 2019 Provision (credit)	\$ 2,448	\$ 10,845	\$ 1,998	\$ 77	\$ 2	\$ 6	\$ 15,376
for loan losses Loans charged off Recoveries of loans	952 (681)	1,153	(342)	<u>1</u>	<u>(1)</u>	- (1)	1,763 (682)
previously charged off Balance June 30, 2020	$\frac{1}{2,720}$	\$ <u>11,998</u>	\$ <u>1,656</u>	\$	\$ <u> </u>	\$ <u> </u>	\$\frac{1}{16,458}
Three months ended June 30, 2020 Balance March 31, 2020 Provision (credit)	\$ 2,740	\$ 11,343	\$ 1,665	\$ 78	\$ 1	\$ 6	\$ 15,833
for loan losses Loans charged off Recoveries of loans	(21)	655	<u>(9)</u>	_	_	<u>(1)</u>	625 (1)
previously charged off Balance June 30, 2020	$\frac{1}{2,720}$	\$ <u>-11,998</u>	\$ <u></u>	\$ <u> </u>	\$ <u> </u>	\$ <u> </u>	\$ <u>16,458</u>

At December 31, 2019, a residential real estate loan with a \$4.3 million recorded investment was included in non-accrual and impaired loans without a valuation allowance, based on a recent outside appraisal of the real estate collateral. In the first quarter of 2020, the Bank purchased the property at a foreclosure auction, resulting in the transfer of the loan to foreclosed assets at fair value at the foreclosure date. Based on the results of the foreclosure auction, management reassessed the fair value of the property, moving it to the lower end of the range of fair value, and recorded a \$681,000 charge-off against the allowance for loan losses at the foreclosure date.

An analysis of the allowance for loan losses, by segment, as of December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020 follows:

		sidential al Estate	Commercial Real Estate		Cons	struction (E	Iome quity ousands)	Commercial		l Consumer			Total
December 31, 2019 Allowance for impaired loans Allowance for non-impaired loans	\$	104 2,344 2,448	\$	10,845 10,845	\$	1,998 1,998	\$		\$		\$		\$	104 15,272 15,376
Impaired loans Non-impaired loans	\$	6,463 689,456 695,919		508 1,326,618 1,327,126	\$	186,094 186,094	\$	29,605 29,605	\$ 	196 196	\$	586 586	\$	6,971 2,232,555 2,239,526
June 30, 2020 Allowance for impaired loans Allowance for non-impaired loans	\$ 	84 2,636 2,720	\$ \$	11,998 11,998	\$ \$	1,656 1,656	\$ 	 78 78	\$ \$		\$ \$		\$ <u>\$</u>	84 16,374 16,458
Impaired loans Non-impaired loans	\$ -\$	2,232 675,898 678,130	-	504 1,518,800 1,519,304	\$ \$	925 158,752 159,677	\$ 	92 28,511 28,603	\$ 	9,248 9,248	\$ 	501 501	\$ \$	3,753 2,391,710 2,395,463

The following is a summary of impaired loans at December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020:

	December 31, 2019						June 30, 2020							
			ι	J npaid					U	npaid				
	Re	Recorded Investment				Rela	Related		orded	Principal		Re	lated	
	Inv					nvestment		Investment Balance		Allov	Allowance		stment	Balance
						(In Thou	sands)							
Impaired loans without a valuation allowance:														
Residential real estate	\$	5,450	\$	5,502			\$	1,509	\$	1,561				
Commercial real estate		508		508				504		504				
Construction		_		_				925		925				
Home equity								92		92				
Total		5,958		6,010				3,030		3,082				
Impaired loans with a valuation allowance:														
Residential real estate		1,013		1,013	\$	104		723		723	\$	84		
Total impaired loans	\$	6,971	\$	7,023	\$	104	\$	3,753	\$	3,805	\$	84		

The following is information pertaining to impaired loans for the periods ended June 30, 2019 and 2020:

		Three Months Ended June 30, 2019						Six Mo	Ionths Ended June 30, 2019					
	A	Average Interes		Interest Income			Ave	rage	Inte	erest	Interest	Income		
	Re	corded	Inc	Income		Income Recognized on		zed on	Reco	orded	Income		Recogni	zed on
	Inv	estment	Recog	gnized	Cash l	Basis	Inves	tment	Recog	gnized	Cash	Basis		
						(In Tho	usands)							
Impaired loans:														
Residential real estate	\$	2,082	\$	16	\$	1	\$	1,896	\$	32	\$	10		
Commercial real estate	_	151				3	_	262				18		
Total impaired loans	\$_	2,233	\$	16	\$	4_	\$_	2,158	\$	32	\$	28		

		Three	Months 1	Ended Ju	ne 30, 2020)	Six Months Ended June 30, 2020								
		verage corded		Interest Income		Income ized on		erage orded		erest come		erest Income ecognized on			
	Inv	estment	Recog	Recognized		Cash Basis		stment	Recognized		Cash	Basis			
						(In Tho	usands)								
Impaired loans:															
Residential real estate	\$	2,407	\$	15	\$	6	\$	3,096	\$	31	\$	23			
Commercial real estate		505		_		9		507		_		21			
Construction		371		_		5		186		_		5			
Home equity	_	76				1_		53				2			
Total impaired loans	\$	3,359	\$	15	\$	21	\$	3,842	\$	31	\$	51			

No additional funds are committed to be advanced in connection with impaired loans.

In the course of resolving non-performing loans, the Bank may choose to restructure the contractual terms of certain loans, with terms modified to fit the ability of the borrower to repay in line with its current financial status. A loan is considered a troubled debt restructure if, for reasons related to the debtor's financial difficulties, a concession is granted to the debtor that would not otherwise be considered. For the six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2020, troubled debt restructurings were not considered material.

Credit Quality Information

The Bank uses a seven-grade internal rating system for residential real estate, commercial real estate, construction and commercial loans as follows:

Loans rated 1-3B: Loans in this category are considered "pass" rated with low to average risk.

Loans rated 4: Loans in this category are considered "special mention." These loans are currently protected, but exhibit conditions that have the potential for weakness. The borrower may be affected by unfavorable economic, market or other external conditions that may affect their ability to repay the debt. These may also include credits where there is deterioration of the collateral or have deficiencies which may affect our ability to collect on the collateral. This rating is consistent with the "Other Assets Especially Mentioned" category used by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC").

Loans rated 5: Loans in this category are considered "substandard." Generally, a loan is considered substandard if it is inadequately protected by the current net worth and paying capacity of the obligors and/or the collateral pledged. There is a distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some loss if the weakness is not corrected.

Loans rated 6: Loans in this category are considered "doubtful." Loans classified as doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, highly questionable and improbable.

Loans rated 7: Loans in this category are considered uncollectible ("loss") and of such little value that their continuance as loans is not warranted.

Commercial loans are assigned an initial grade at the origination of the loan. After origination, the Bank has a quality control program performed by an independent third party. On a rolling quarterly basis, all commercial, construction and residential loan relationships with individual loans of \$500,000 or more are assigned a risk rating. An in-depth review is performed on all commercial real estate relationships with exposure in excess of \$850,000, new credits in excess of \$500,000 and all the loans on the Bank's Watch List. Watch List loans are those loans that are more than two payments past due at the end of the quarter, loans for which the borrowing entity or sponsor has filed bankruptcy, loans rated four or higher in a previous review, impaired loans, troubled debt restructurings and loans past contractual maturity. Results of the independent loan review are reported to the Bank's Audit Committee on a quarterly basis and become the mechanism for monitoring the overall credit quality of the portfolio.

The following table presents the Bank's loans by risk rating as of December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020:

		lential Real	-	ommercial									
Rating		Estate	R	eal Estate	Cor	nstruction	Com	mercial					
	(In Thousands)												
December 31, 2019													
1-3B	\$	689,932	\$	1,326,318	\$	186,094	\$	196					
4		1,349		808		_							
5		4,638		<u> </u>									
	\$	695,919	\$	1,327,126	\$	186,094	\$	196					
June 30, 2020													
1-3B	\$	676,621	\$	1,516,526	\$	158,752	\$	9,248					
4		1,154		2,778		925		_					
5		355		· —		_							
	\$	678,130	\$	1,519,304	\$	159,677	\$	9,248					

For home equity and consumer loans, management uses delinquency reports as the key credit quality indicator.

NOTE 7: RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Accounting Standards Issued But Yet Not Adopted

The following identifies Accounting Standards Updates ("ASUs") applicable to the Bank that have been issued but are not yet effective:

In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326) ("ASU 2016-13"). This Update requires entities to measure expected credit losses based on relevant information about past events, including historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the collectability of the reported amount. Credit losses on available for sale debt securities should be measured in a manner similar to current GAAP. However, the amendments in this Update require that credit losses be presented as an allowance rather than as a write down. In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815), and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates. This Update delayed the effective date of ASU 2016-13 for entities eligible to be smaller reporting companies ("SRC"), public business entities that are not SEC filers, and entities that are not public business entities, until fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. As of the date of issuance of ASU 2019-10, the Bank was an eligible SRC and therefore, the adoption of ASU 2016-13 is being delayed. The Bank has completed the model selection, defined the data framework and is currently parallel running the model and evaluating the results. Management will continue to monitor developments and additional guidance to determine the potential impact on the Bank's consolidated financial statements.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-04, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments. The amendments in this Update affect a variety of Topics in the Codification and represent changes to clarify, correct errors in, or address implementation issues. The amendments to Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses and Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, have the same effective dates and transition requirements as those standards, unless the entity has already adopted the standard. The amendments to Topic 825, Financial Instruments were effective for the Bank beginning on January 1, 2020. Management has evaluated the Update and determined that changes are not applicable or material to its consolidated financial statements.

In May 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-05, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Targeted Transition Relief. This Update provides transition relief by providing entities with an option to irrevocably elect the fair value option, on an instrument-by-instrument basis, for eligible financial assets measured at amortized cost basis upon adoption of ASU 2016-13. The election is not available for either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity debt securities. For entities that have not yet adopted ASU 2016-13, the effective date and transition methodology for the amendments in this Update are the same as in ASU 2016-13. The Bank does not intend to make this election at this time.

In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-11, *Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses.* This Update clarifies, corrects errors and improves certain aspects of the amendments in ASU 2016-13. For entities that have not yet adopted ASU 2016-13, the effective date for the amendments in this ASU is the same as in ASU 2016-13.

In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, *Investments* — *Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments* — *Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815).* This Update clarifies the interaction of the accounting for equity securities under Topic 321 and investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting in Topic 323 and the accounting for certain forward contracts and purchased options accounted for under Topic 815. The amendments in this Update shall be applied prospectively, and for public business entities, are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Bank does expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

Item 2 - Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The following discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of the Bank should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. Matters discussed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our public disclosures, whether written or oral, relating to future events or our future performance, including any discussion, expressed or implied, of our anticipated growth, operating results, future earnings per share, plans and objectives, contain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These statements are often identified by the words "believe," "plan," "estimate," "project," "target," "continue," "intend," "expect," "future," "anticipate," and similar expressions that are not statements of historical fact. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict, including changes in political and economic climate, interest rate fluctuations and competitive product and pricing pressures within the Bank's market, bond market fluctuations, personal and corporate customers' bankruptcies and inflation. Our actual results and timing of certain events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors including, but not limited to, those set forth under "Risk Factors" and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in our other public filings with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"). It is routine for internal projections and expectations to change as the year or each quarter in the year progresses and, therefore, it should be clearly understood that all forward-looking statements and the internal projections and beliefs upon which we base our expectations included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are made only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and may change. While we may elect to update forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

Note on Core Return on Average Equity and Core Return on Average Assets

In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification *Topic 321, Investments - Equity Securities*, equity securities (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that result in consolidation of the investee) are measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Net Income, regardless of whether such gains and losses are realized, and included in the other income category. This change affects the Bank's portfolio of marketable equity securities, which includes common equity securities and a mutual fund which invests in securities which qualify for the Community Reinvestment Act securities test. This portfolio primarily includes common equity investments, which the Bank views as long-term partnership interests in operating companies. Consequently the Bank does not view the quarterly fluctuation in market value as indicative of the change in the intrinsic value of these portfolio holdings. The performance of these holdings should be evaluated on the basis of their contribution to growth in book value per share over time, not via quarterly adjustments to net income. Consistent with this view, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" incorporates core net income, core return on average equity and core return on average assets, which are non-GAAP measurements that exclude the after-tax effect of gain (loss) on equity securities, net, both realized and unrealized.

The table below presents the reconciliation between net income and core net income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2019 and 2020:

	•	Three Mon June	Six Months Ended June 30,					
(In thousands, unaudited)		2019		2020		2019		2020
Non-GAAP reconciliation:								
Net Income	\$	8,706	\$	16,338	\$	18,530	\$	18,523
Loss (gain) on equity securities, net		(1,170)		(6,930)		(4,039)		1,144
Income tax expense (benefit) (1)		258		1,528		890		(252)
Core Net Income	\$	7,794	\$	10,936	\$	15,381	\$	19,415

(1) The equity securities are held in a tax-advantaged subsidiary corporation. The income tax effect of the loss (gain) on equity securities, net, was calculated using the effective tax rate applicable to the subsidiary.

INTRODUCTION

Net income for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 was \$16,338,000 or \$7.65 per share basic and \$7.50 per share diluted as compared to \$8,706,000 or \$4.08 per share basic and \$3.99 per share diluted in earnings for the second quarter of 2019. The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the second quarter of 2020 was 25.28%, and the annualized return on average assets was 2.41% as compared to 15.32% and 1.37% for the same period in 2019. Excluding the after-tax gains (losses) on equity securities, both realized and unrealized, core net income for the second quarter of 2020 was \$10,936,000 or \$5.12 per share basic and \$5.03 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 16.92% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.61%. This compares to core net income of \$7,794,000 or \$3.65 per share basic and \$3.57 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 13.71% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.23% for the same period in 2019.

Net income for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was \$18,523,000 or \$8.67 per share basic and \$8.50 per share diluted as compared to \$18,530,000 or \$8.69 per share basic and \$8.49 per share diluted for the same period last year. The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the first six months of 2020 was 14.50%, and the annualized return on average assets was 1.39% as compared to 16.62% and 1.50% for the same period in 2019. Excluding the after-tax gains on equity securities, both realized and unrealized, core net income for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was \$19,415,000 or \$9.09 per share basic and \$8.91 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 15.20% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.46%. This compares to core net income of \$15,381,000 or \$7.21 per share basic and \$7.05 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 13.80% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.25% for the same period in 2019.

The net interest margin for the second quarter of 2020 increased 53 basis points to 3.15%, as compared to 2.62% for the same period last year, and the net interest margin for the six months ended June 30, 2020 increased 34 basis points to 2.99%, as compared to 2.65% for the same period last year. In 2020 the Bank has benefited from a sharp decline in the cost of interest-bearing liabilities, including both interest-bearing deposits and wholesale funding from the Federal Home Loan Bank, brokered time deposits and listing services time deposits. This benefit has been partially offset by a decline in the yield on interest-earning assets, driven primarily by the decline in the interest on excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank ("FRB") of Boston and a lower yield on loans during the same period.

Balance sheet growth was strong in the first six months of 2020. Total assets increased by \$133.5 million from December 31, 2019 and \$109.4 million from June 30, 2019, representing 10% annualized growth year-to-date and 4% growth from June 30, 2019. Net loans increased by \$154.7 million from December 31, 2019 and \$210.7 million from June 30, 2019, representing 14% annualized growth year-to-date and 10% growth from June 30, 2019. Asset growth was below loan growth during both periods, as the Bank continued to manage its balance sheet to minimize the cost of its on-balance sheet liquidity. Total deposits increased by \$233.5 million from December 31, 2019 and \$395.9 million from June 30, 2019, representing 26% annualized growth year-to-date and 24% growth from June 30, 2019. Total retail and business deposits increased to \$1.571 billion at June 30, 2020, representing 20% annualized growth year-date and 21% growth from June 30, 2019. Non-interest bearing deposits, included in retail and business deposits, increased to \$289.6 million at June 30, 2020, representing 44% annualized growth year-to-date and 27% growth from June 30, 2019. During the first six months of 2020, the Bank reallocated its wholesale funding mix between wholesale time deposits and Federal Home Loan Bank advances in order to reduce the cost of funds. Stockholders' equity increased to \$264.0 million as of June 30, 2020, representing 14% annualized growth year-to-date and a 15% increase from June 30, 2019. Book value per share increased to \$123.57 per share at June 30, 2020 from \$115.75 per share at December 31, 2019 and \$107.59 per share at June 30, 2019.

Since June 30, 2019, the Bank declared dividends of \$2.26 per share, which included a \$0.60 special dividend declared in the fourth quarter of 2019.

Key credit and operational metrics remained strong in the second quarter of 2020. At June 30, 2020, non-performing assets totaled 0.24% of total assets, compared with 0.22% at December 31, 2019 and 0.02% at June 30, 2019. Non-performing loans as a percentage of the total loan portfolio totaled 0.11% at June 30, 2020, as compared to 0.25% at December 31, 2019 and 0.03% at June 30, 2019.

The efficiency ratio was 25.28% for the second quarter of 2020, as compared to 31.10% in the same period last year. Operating expenses (annualized) as a percentage of average assets fell to 0.79% for the second quarter of 2020, as compared to 0.82% for the same period last year. These metrics reflect the Bank's continued focus on credit quality and disciplined expense controls.

The Bank continues to exceed all of the minimum regulatory capital requirements.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS COMPARISON OF THE THREE MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

General

The Bank reported net income of \$16.3 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 as compared to \$8.7 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2019. Net income was \$7.65 per share basic and \$7.50 per share diluted for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 as compared with \$4.08 per share basic and \$3.99 per share diluted for the same period in 2019. Earnings for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 were positively impacted by an increase of \$5.7 million in other income and an increase of \$4.7 million in net interest income, partially offset by an increase of \$2.5 million in the income tax provision, a \$211,000 increase in operating expenses and a \$70,000 increase in the provision for loan losses.

The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 was 25.28%, and the annualized return on average assets was 2.41%. The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the quarter ended June 30, 2019 was 15.32%, and the annualized return on average assets was 1.37%.

Excluding the after-tax gains (losses) on equity securities, both realized and unrealized, core net income for the second quarter of 2020 was \$10.9 million or \$5.12 per share basic and \$5.03 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 16.92% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.61%. This compares to core net income of \$7.8 million or \$3.65 per share basic and \$3.57 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 13.71% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.23% for the same period in 2019.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income was \$21.0 million for the second quarter of 2020 and \$16.3 million for the second quarter of 2019. The \$4.7 million increase was due to a 69 basis points increase in the weighted average rate spread, combined with a \$180.0 million, or 7%, increase in average interest-earning assets in the three months ended June 30, 2020, compared to the same period in 2019. For the quarter ended June 30, 2020, the weighted average rate spread and net interest margin were 2.97% and 3.15%, respectively, compared to 2.28% and 2.62%, respectively, for the quarter ended June 30, 2019. Average interest-bearing liabilities increased by \$97.9 million, or 5%, and the rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities decreased by 106 basis points.

In December 2015, after an extended period of low interest rates, the Federal Reserve began gradually increasing the overnight rate, impacting many short-term rates. In this environment, the Bank's cost of funds increased in tandem with short-term rates until mid-2019, while the yield on interest-earning assets increased at a slower pace, as the Federal Reserve increased interest on excess reserves and the Bank gradually increased the interest rate on certain loan products. To mitigate the negative effect of these market conditions on its net interest margin, the Bank began using brokered time deposits as an alternative to other wholesale funding sources, such as FHLB borrowings or Internet listing services certificates of deposit, to take advantage of their lower cost and/or longer duration. At the same time, the Bank reduced the balance of excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank, in order to minimize the carrying cost of its on-balance sheet liquidity. The Bank has continued to allocate the wholesale funding mix opportunistically and carefully managed its on-balance sheet liquidity. In late 2019 and in the first six months of 2020, the Federal Reserve Bank began reducing the overnight rate aggressively, while long term rates reached historic lows. As a result of these market conditions, the Bank's average rate on interest-bearing liabilities declined significantly in the first six months of 2020, while the yield on interest-earning assets declined by a lesser extent, driven by a lower rate paid on excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank and lower yield on loans. This resulted in a higher net interest margin in the second quarter of 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.

Interest and dividend income decreased by \$566,000 to \$26.4 million for the second quarter of 2020 as compared to \$26.9 million for the second quarter of 2019. The yield on total interest-earning assets was 3.95% for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 as compared to 4.32% for the quarter ended June 30, 2019.

Interest income on loans increased \$1.0 million when comparing the two periods, primarily resulting from a 10% increase in average loan balances, partially offset by a 24 basis point decline in yield.

Securities, Federal Home Loan Bank stock and short-term investments, which includes the Bank's cash holdings at the Federal Reserve, accounted for 11% of the total average interest-earning assets for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as compared to 13% for the same period in 2019. Income for these categories combined decreased \$1.6 million when comparing the two periods, primarily due to lower average yields combined with a \$37.9 million decline in combined average balances. The interest on excess reserves paid by the Federal Reserve decreased over this period and the Bank reduced its cash held at the Federal Reserve Bank. This was partially offset by additional marketable equity securities purchased by the Bank since June 30, 2019, some of which pay cash dividends. Additionally, the Federal Home Loan Bank has continued to pay an elevated dividend on the Bank's stock investment.

The average rate on interest-bearing liabilities decreased to 0.98% for the second quarter of 2020 from 2.04% for the comparable quarter of 2019. Total interest expense decreased by \$5.3 million when comparing the quarters ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 due to lower interest rates on deposits and borrowings, partially offset by higher average balances.

Interest expense on deposits decreased by \$2.7 million due to a 73 basis point decrease in the weighted average rate, partially offset by an increase of \$49.2 million in average interest-bearing deposits. After a sustained period of rising short term rates, beginning in late 2019, the Bank observed falling market pricing for term deposits, money market accounts, and wholesale funds. This trend accelerated in the second quarter of 2020, as the Federal Reserve aggressively reduced short term market rates in March of 2020. The Bank has managed core product rates, implemented special offerings, and continued to use wholesale time deposits to remain competitive while providing a cost efficient means for balanced growth. Given the current economic and competitive environment, management believes it is likely that retail and commercial deposits rates may stabilize in 2020, while wholesale time deposits rates will be likely driven by changes in monetary policy and market interest rates.

Interest expense on borrowed funds for the second quarter of 2020 decreased \$2.6 million as compared to the same quarter in 2019, primarily due to a 201 basis points decline in the weighted average rate, partially offset by a \$48.7 million increase in average outstanding balances. The decrease in FHLB borrowings rate was primarily driven by the lower short-term market rates and the maturity of higher rate long term advances taken in 2019.

The following tables detail components of net interest income and yields/rates on average earning assets/liabilities.

	Three Months Ended June 30,							
		2019		2020				
	AVERAGE BALANCE	INTEREST	YIELD/ RATE (8)	AVERAGE BALANCE	INTEREST	YIELD/ RATE (8)		
(Dollars in thousands)								
Loans (1) (2)	\$ 2,161,278	\$ 24,816	4.59 %	\$ 2,379,132	\$ 25,856	4.35%		
Securities (3) (4)	58,311	496	3.40	69,901	463	2.65		
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments	272,453	1,629	2.39	222,960	56	0.10		
Total interest-earning assets	2,492,042	26,941	4.32	2,671,993	26,375	3.95		
Other assets	41,700			44,066				
Total assets	\$ 2,533,742			\$ 2,716,059				
Interest-bearing deposits (5)	\$ 1,543,247	7,074	1.83	\$ 1,592,458	4,392	1.10		
Borrowed funds	534,809	3,550	2.66	583,532	942	0.65		
Total interest-bearing liabilities	2,078,056	10,624	2.04	2,175,990	5,334	0.98		
Non-interest-bearing deposits	221,051			272,418				
Other liabilities	7,271			9,107				
Total liabilities	2,306,378			2,457,515				
Stockholders' equity	227,364			258,544				
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 2,533,742			\$ 2,716,059				
Net interest income		\$ 16,317			\$ 21,041			
Weighted average spread			2.28 %			<u>2.97</u> %		
Net interest margin (6)			2.62 %			<u>3.15</u> %		
Average interest-earning assets to average interest-bearing liabilities (7)	119.92	0%		122.79	/o			

- (1) Before allowance for loan losses.
- (2) Includes average non-accrual loans.
- (3) Excludes the impact of the average net unrealized gain or loss on securities.
- (4) Includes Federal Home Loan Bank stock.
- (5) Includes mortgagors' escrow accounts.
- (6) Net interest income divided by average total interest-earning assets.
- (7) Total interest-earning assets divided by total interest-bearing liabilities.
- (8) Annualized.

The following table presents information regarding changes in interest and dividend income and interest expense of the Bank for the periods indicated. For each category, information is provided with respect to the change attributable to volume (change in volume multiplied by old rate) and the change in rate (change in rate multiplied by old volume). The change attributable to both volume and rate is allocated proportionally to the change due to volume and rate.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to the Three Months Ended June 30, 2019 Increase (Decrease)

	Increase (Decrease)							
		Due 1		_				
	V	olume	Rate			Total		
			(In	Thousands)		_		
Interest and dividend income:								
Loans	\$	2,414	\$	(1,374)	\$	1,040		
Securities and FHLB stock		88		(121)		(33)		
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments		(251)		(1,322)		(1,573)		
Total interest and dividend income		2,251		(2,817)		(566)		
Interest expense:	<u> </u>							
Deposits		219		(2,901)		(2,682)		
Borrowed funds		297		(2,905)		(2,608)		
Total interest expense		516		(5,806)		(5,290)		
Net interest income	\$	1,735	\$	2,989	\$	4,724		

Provision for Loan Losses

At June 30, 2020, the Bank's review of the allowance for loan losses concluded that a balance of \$16.5 million was adequate to provide for losses based upon evaluation of size and risk in the loan portfolio. During the second quarter of 2020, the Bank provided \$625,000 to achieve such a loan loss allowance balance at June 30, 2020. The Bank did not record any net charge-offs for both the second quarter of 2020 and 2019. Due to the growth in the loan portfolio, the Bank added to the allowance for loan loss balance during the three months ended June 30, 2020. Comparably, for the three months ended June 30, 2019, the Bank's evaluation of the balance of the allowance for loan losses indicated the need for a provision of \$555,000.

See Notes 1 and 6 to the accompanying interim consolidated financial statements and "Loans and Foreclosed Real Estate" included in this Management's Discussion and Analysis for additional information pertaining to the allowance for loan losses.

Other Income

Other income is comprised of gain on equity securities, net, customer service fees on deposits, increases in the cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance policies and miscellaneous income. Total other income was \$7.2 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2020 compared to \$1.5 million for the same period in 2019. In the second quarter of 2020, the Bank recorded gains totaling \$6.9 million on equity securities, including \$6.8 million of unrealized gains on equity securities held at the end of the period and \$99,000 of gains recognized on equity securities sold during the period. In the second quarter of 2019, the Bank recorded gains totaling \$1.2 million on equity securities, all of which consisted of unrealized gains on equity securities held at the end of the period. There were no gains or losses recognized on equity securities sold during the second quarter of 2019.

Customer service fees on deposits decreased by \$51,000 in the second quarter of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. In recent years, there has been a continuous decline in deposit account transaction fees, as the Bank has eliminated many fees on deposit products to simplify offerings and enhance the value proposition of our consumer and business checking accounts to customers. There has been an offsetting trend in debit card interchange fees, as the size of the Bank's checking account base has increased and the Bank has benefited from a secular trend towards increasing use of debit cards in payments. Although the Bank did not observe a material decrease in debit card interchange in the second quarter of 2020, it is likely that such revenue will be affected by the current or potential future COVID-19 shutdowns. Generally, the Bank's strategy does not rely on generating substantial non-interest fee-based revenue from our deposit accounts.

An increase in the cash surrender value of life insurance also contributed to other income during the second quarter of 2020 and 2019. The Bank held \$12.8 million in life insurance policies at June 30, 2020 as compared to \$12.6 million at June 30, 2019. The policies accrete at a variable rate of interest with minimum stated guaranteed rates and related income was stable when comparing the three months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include salaries and employee benefits, occupancy and equipment, data processing, deposit insurance, marketing, foreclosure, and other general and administrative expenses. Total operating expenses were \$5.4 million, or an annualized 0.79% of average total assets for the quarter ended June 30, 2020, as compared to \$5.2 million, or an annualized 0.82% of average total assets, for the same quarter of 2019.

Salaries and employee benefits expenses increased \$110,000, or 3%, in the three months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period in 2019, primarily due to annual merit-based salary increases, partially offset by a slightly lower number of employees. This reflects a slightly smaller branch staff, offset by an additional commercial lender and an additional commercial deposit relationship manager as compared to the same period in 2019.

Occupancy and equipment expenses increased by \$27,000, or 6%, to \$474,000 in the second quarter of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. Higher rental expenses related to the commercial lending office the Bank opened in Washington D.C in the second quarter of 2019, combined with lower rental income received in 2020 and higher depreciation expenses, were partially offset by lower maintenance and utilities expenses. The Bank owns rental apartments located above its Nantucket branch which are rented during the summer season. We believe the COVID-19 pandemic will likely have a negative impact on 2020 rental income derived from these units.

Data processing expenses for the second quarter of 2020 increased by \$174,000, or 58%, when compared to the same period in 2019, driven primarily by higher data processing charges associated with improvements made to the Bank's systems and volume increases in the second quarter of 2020, combined with a one-time credit related to the conversion of the Bank's debit card platform from Elan to Fiserv recognized in the second quarter of 2019. Technology spending at the Bank remains focused on three primary objectives: delivering new or improved customer experience, reducing costs through simplification and automation of internal processes, and securing customer and Bank confidential information.

Deposit insurance expense decreased by \$11,000, or 4%, when compared to the same period in 2019. The decrease in expense is due to a lower assessed rate, partially offset by an increase in the size of the balance sheet, as this charge is calculated based on total assets. Deposit insurance expense consists of premiums paid to the FDIC and the Massachusetts Depositors Insurance Fund ("DIF"). The FDIC assessment rate is determined based on several factors, including capitalization, asset growth, earnings, use of brokered deposits and level of non-performing assets, among others, and is calculated on an assessment base that takes into consideration the Bank's average total assets and average tangible equity, among other factors. The DIF assessment rate is based on an institution's risk category, which is defined based on similar factors. The Bank carefully manages its balance sheet to control the deposit insurance

expense associated with excess liquidity.

Marketing expenses decreased by \$73,000, or 41%, to \$104,000 for the second quarter of 2020, driven partially by a temporary decline in advertising activity as a result of COVID-19. The Bank continues to carefully manage these expenses and focus marketing efforts on the Bank's Commercial Real Estate and Specialized Deposit Groups.

Foreclosure expenses include expenses associated with the collection and foreclosure process, such as legal, tax, appraisal, insurance and other related foreclosure expenses. These expenses may be recovered when the loan returns to performing status or when the Bank exercises its remedies, as they are generally secured by the Bank's mortgages. Such recoveries, if any, are reflected in future periods as contra-expense. Foreclosure related expenses have remained low and decreased by \$16,000 when comparing the quarter ended June 30, 2020 to the same period in 2019. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had foreclosed assets of \$3.8 million, consisting only of the Nantucket property, including repairs and improvements completed by the Bank following foreclosure. At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2019, the Bank had no properties in foreclosed assets. The Bank continues to manage credit quality energetically.

Other general and administrative expenses, which include director fees, supplies, deposit related losses and audit-related expenses, among others, were stable when comparing the two periods, reflecting higher loan related expenses offset by a decline in other miscellaneous expenses.

Income Taxes

The Bank recognizes income taxes under the asset and liability method in which deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the temporary difference between the accounting basis and the tax basis of the Bank's assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the amounts related to such temporary differences are realized or settled. The Bank's deferred tax asset is reviewed quarterly by management as to the realizability of such asset.

During the second quarter of 2020, the Bank recorded \$5.9 million, or 26.4% of pre-tax income, in tax expense as compared to \$3.4 million, or 27.8%, for the same quarter in 2019. The lower effective tax rate in the second quarter of 2020 was driven by higher unrealized gains on equity securities recognized during the second quarter of 2020 as compared to the same quarter in the prior year, as these securities are held at a tax-advantaged subsidiary. Excess tax benefits recognized on the exercise of stock options during the second quarter of 2020 contributed to the lower the effective tax rate in that period.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS COMPARISON OF THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND 2019

General

The Bank reported net income of \$18.5 million for both the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019. Net income was \$8.67 per share basic and \$8.50 per share diluted for the first six months of 2020 as compared to \$8.69 per share basic and \$8.49 per share diluted for the same period in 2019. Earnings for the six months ended June 30, 2020 were positively impacted by an increase of \$6.9 million in net interest income, offset by a decrease of \$5.0 million in other income (loss), a \$783,000 increase in the provision for loan losses, a \$689,000 increase in operating expenses and an increase of \$434,000 in the income tax provision.

The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the first six months of 2020 was 14.50%, and the annualized return on average assets was 1.39%. The Bank's annualized return on average equity for the first six months of 2019 was 16.62%, and the annualized return on average assets was 1.50%.

Excluding the after-tax gains on equity securities, both realized and unrealized, core net income for the six months ended June 30, 2020 was \$19.4 million or \$9.09 per share basic and \$8.91 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 15.20% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.46%. This compares to core net income of \$15.4 million or \$7.21 per share basic and \$7.05 per share diluted, representing an annualized core return on average equity of 13.80% and an annualized core return on average assets of 1.25% for the same period in 2019.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income was \$39.1 million for the first six months of 2020 as compared to \$32.2 million for the first six months of 2019. The \$6.9 million increase was due to a 42 basis points increase in the weighted average rate spread, combined with a \$190.1 million, or 8%, increase in average interest-earning assets in the first six months of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. For the first six months of 2020, the Bank's weighted average rate spread and net interest margin were 2.74% and 2.99%, respectively, as compared to 2.32% and 2.65%, respectively, for the same period in 2019. Average interest-bearing liabilities increased by \$124.8 million, or 6%, and the rate paid on interest-bearing liabilities decreased by 64 basis points.

In December 2015, after an extended period of low interest rates, the Federal Reserve began gradually increasing the overnight rate, impacting many short-term rates. In this environment, the Bank's cost of funds increased in tandem with short-term rates until mid-2019, while the yield on interest-earning assets increased at a slower pace, as the Federal Reserve increased interest on excess reserves and the Bank gradually increased the interest rate on certain loan products. To mitigate the negative effect of these market conditions on its net interest margin, the Bank began using brokered time deposits as an alternative to other wholesale funding sources, such as FHLB borrowings or Internet listing services certificates of deposit, to take advantage of their lower cost and/or longer duration. At the same time, the Bank reduced the balance of excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank, in order to minimize the carrying cost of its on-balance sheet liquidity. The Bank has continued to allocate the wholesale funding mix opportunistically and carefully managed its on-balance sheet liquidity. In late 2019 and in the first six months of 2020, the Federal Reserve Bank began reducing the overnight rate aggressively, while long term rates reached historic lows. As a result of these market conditions, the Bank's average rate on interest-bearing liabilities declined significantly in the first six months of 2020, while the yield on interest-earning assets declined by a lesser extent, driven by a lower rate paid on excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank and lower yield on loans. This resulted in a higher net interest margin in the first six months of 2020 as compared to the same period in 2019.

Interest and dividend income increased by \$1.3 million to \$53.3 million for the first six months of 2020 as compared to \$52.1 million for the first six months of 2019. The yield on total interest-earning assets was 4.07% for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to 4.29% for the six months ended June 30, 2019.

Interest income on loans increased \$3.7 million when comparing the two periods, primarily resulting from a 10% increase in average loans, partially offset by an 11 basis point decline in overall yield.

Securities, Federal Home Loan Bank stock and short-term investments, which includes the Bank's cash holdings at the Federal Reserve, accounted for 11% of the total average interest-earning assets for the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 13% for the same period in 2019. Income for these categories combined decreased \$2.4 million when comparing the two periods, primarily due to lower average yields combined with a \$29.8 million decline in combined average balances. The interest on excess reserves paid by the Federal Reserve decreased over this period and the Bank reduced its cash held at the Federal Reserve Bank. This was partially offset by additional marketable equity securities purchased by the Bank since June 30, 2019, some of which pay cash dividends. Additionally, the Federal Home Loan Bank has continued to pay an elevated dividend on the Bank's stock investment.

The average rate on interest-bearing liabilities declined to 1.33% for the first six months of 2020 from 1.97% for the comparable period in 2019. Total interest expense decreased by \$5.7 million when comparing the six months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 due to lower interest rates on deposits and borrowings, partially offset by higher average balances.

Interest expense on deposits decreased by \$2.9 million when comparing the two periods, due to a 42 basis point decrease in the weighted average rate, partially offset by an increase of \$38.3 million in average interest-bearing deposits. Certificate balances increased by \$75.7 million from December 31, 2019 to June 30, 2020 and non-certificate accounts increased by \$157.8 million during the same period. Non-certificate accounts represent 49.6% of total deposits at June 30, 2020 compared to 47.3% at December 31, 2019. After a sustained period of rising short term rates, beginning in late 2019, the Bank observed falling market pricing for term

deposits, money market accounts, and wholesale funds. This trend accelerated in the second quarter of 2020, as the Federal Reserve aggressively reduced short term market rates in March of 2020. The Bank has managed core product rates, implemented special offerings, and continued to use wholesale time deposits to remain competitive while providing a cost efficient means for balanced growth. Given the current economic and competitive environment, management believes it is likely that retail and commercial deposits rates may stabilize in 2020, while wholesale time deposits rates will be likely driven by changes in monetary policy and market interest rates.

Interest expense on borrowed funds for the first six months of 2020 decreased \$2.8 million as compared to the same period in 2019, due primarily to a decrease of 133 basis points in the weighted average rate, partially offset by an \$86.4 million increase in average outstanding balance. The decrease in FHLB borrowings rate was primarily driven by the lower short-term market rates and the maturity of higher rate long term advances taken in 2019.

The following tables detail components of net interest income and yields/rates on average earning assets/liabilities.

	Six Months Ended June 30,							
		2019		2020				
	AVERAGE BALANCE	INTEREST	YIELD/ RATE (8)	AVERAGE BALANCE	INTEREST	YIELD/ RATE (8)		
(Dollars in thousands)								
Loans (1) (2)	\$ 2,105,144	\$ 47,896	4.55 %	\$ 2,325,075	\$ 51,566	4.44 %		
Securities (3) (4)	56,602	985	3.48	67,601	961	2.84		
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments	266,348	3,189	2.39	225,565	797	0.71		
Total interest-earning assets	2,428,094	52,070	4.29	2,618,241	53,324	4.07		
Other assets	40,418	·		45,302				
Total assets	\$ 2,468,512			\$ 2,663,543				
Interest-bearing deposits (5)	\$ 1,514,553	13,220	1.75	\$ 1,552,901	10,333	1.33		
Borrowed funds	505,176	6,689	2.65	591,596	3,892	1.32		
Total interest-bearing liabilities	2,019,729	19,909	1.97	2,144,497	14,225	1.33		
Non-interest-bearing deposits	218,099	·		255,212				
Other liabilities	7,697			8,347				
Total liabilities	2,245,525			2,408,056				
Stockholders' equity	222,987			255,487				
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity	\$ 2,468,512			\$ 2,663,543				
Net interest income	_	\$ 32,161			\$ 39,099			
Weighted average spread			2.32 %			<u>2.74</u> %		
Net interest margin (6)			2.65 %			2.99%		
Average interest-earning assets to average interest-bearing liabilities (7)	120.22	0%		122.09	0%			

- (1) Before allowance for loan losses.
- (2) Includes average non-accrual loans.
- (3) Excludes the impact of the average net unrealized gain or loss on securities.
- (4) Includes Federal Home Loan Bank stock.
- (5) Includes mortgagors' escrow accounts.
- (6) Net interest income divided by average total interest-earning assets.
- (7) Total interest-earning assets divided by total interest-bearing liabilities.
- (8) Annualized.

The following table presents information regarding changes in interest and dividend income and interest expense of the Bank for the periods indicated. For each category, information is provided with respect to the change attributable to volume (change in volume multiplied by old rate) and the change in rate (change in rate multiplied by old volume). The change attributable to both volume and rate is allocated proportionally to the change due to volume and rate.

Six Months Ended June 30, 2020 Compared to the Six Months Ended June 30, 2019 Increase (Decrease)

	Due to							
	Volume		Rate			Total		
			(In	thousands)				
Interest and dividend income:								
Loans	\$	4,902	\$	(1,232)	\$	3,670		
Securities and FHLB stock		173		(197)		(24)		
Federal Reserve and other short-term investments		(427)		(1,965)		(2,392)		
Total interest and dividend income		4,648		(3,394)		1,254		
Interest expense:								
Deposits		327		(3,214)		(2,887)		
Borrowed funds		998		(3,795)		(2,797)		
Total interest expense		1,325	_	(7,009)		(5,684)		
Net interest income	\$	3,323	\$	3,615	\$	6,938		

Provision for Loan Losses

At June 30, 2020, the Bank's review of the allowance for loan losses concluded that a balance of \$16.5 million was adequate to provide for losses based upon evaluation of size and risk in the loan portfolio. During the first six months of 2020, the Bank provided \$1.8 million to achieve such a loan loss allowance balance at June 30, 2020. Comparably, for the six months ended June 30, 2019, the Bank's evaluation of the balance of the allowance for loan losses indicated the need for a provision of \$980,000. The increase in provision is due to a \$681,000 charge-off recorded upon foreclosure of a residential loan during the first quarter of 2020 and due to strong loan growth in the six months ended June 30, 2020 compared to the same period last year. The Bank recorded net charge-offs of \$681,000 during the first six months of 2020, as compared to \$1,000 in net charge-offs for the first six months of 2019.

See Notes 1 and 6 to the accompanying interim consolidated financial statements and "Loans and Foreclosed Real Estate" included in this Management's Discussion and Analysis for additional information pertaining to the allowance for loan losses.

Other Income (Loss)

Other income (loss) is comprised of gain (loss) on equity securities, net, customer service fees on deposits, increases in the cash surrender value of bank-owned life insurance policies, gain on disposal of fixed assets and miscellaneous income. Total other loss was \$408,000 for the first six months of 2020 compared to total other income of \$4.6 million for the same period in 2019. In the first six months of 2020, the Bank recorded losses totaling \$1.1 million on equity securities, including \$762,000 of unrealized losses on equity securities held at the end of the period and \$382,000 of losses recognized on equity securities sold during the period. In the first six months of 2019, the Bank recorded gains totaling \$4.0 million on equity securities, including \$4.0 million of unrealized gains on equity securities held at the end of the period and \$1,000 of gains recognized on equity securities sold during the period.

Customer service fees on deposits decreased by \$65,000 in the first six months of 2020 compared to the same period in 2019. In recent years, there has been a continuous decline in deposit account transaction fees, as the Bank has eliminated many fees on deposit products to simplify offerings and enhance the value proposition of our consumer and business checking accounts to customers. There has been an offsetting trend in debit card interchange fees, as the size of the Bank's checking account base has increased and the Bank has benefited from a secular trend towards increasing use of debit cards in payments. Although the Bank did not observe a material decrease in debit card interchange in the first six months of 2020, it is likely that such revenue will be affected by the current or potential future COVID-19 shutdowns. Generally, the Bank's strategy does not rely on generating substantial non-interest fee-based revenue from our deposit accounts.

An increase in the cash surrender value of life insurance also contributed to other income during the first six months of 2020 and 2019. The Bank held \$12.8 million in life insurance policies at June 30, 2020 as compared to \$12.6 million at June 30, 2019. The policies accrete at a variable rate of interest with minimum stated guaranteed rates and related income was down \$7,000 when comparing the two periods. The Bank also recognized a gain of \$218,000 on the sale of its former branch property located in Scituate during the first six months of 2020.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses include salaries and employee benefits, occupancy and equipment, data processing, deposit insurance, marketing, foreclosure, and other general and administrative expenses. Total operating expenses were \$11.0 million, or an annualized 0.83% of average total assets, for the six months ended June 30, 2020 as compared to \$10.3 million, or an annualized 0.84% of average total assets, for the same period of 2019.

Salaries and employee benefits expenses increased by \$343,000, or 5%, when compared to the same period in 2019, due to annual merit-based salary increases, partially offset by a slightly lower number of employees. This reflects a slightly smaller branch staff, offset by an additional commercial lender and an additional commercial deposit relationship manager as compared to the same period in 2019.

Occupancy and equipment expenditures increased by \$28,000, or 3%, to \$929,000 in the first six months of 2020 compared to the same period last year. Higher rental expenses related to the commercial lending office the Bank opened in Washington D.C in the second quarter of 2019, combined with lower rental income received in 2020 and higher depreciation expenses, were partially offset by lower maintenance and utilities expenses. The Bank owns rental apartments located above its Nantucket branch which are rented during the summer season. We believe the COVID-19 pandemic will likely have a negative impact on 2020 rental income derived from these units.

Data processing expenses for the first six months of 2020 increased by \$229,000, or 31%, when compared to the same period in 2019, driven primarily by higher data processing charges associated with improvements made to the Bank's systems and volume increases in the first six months of 2020, combined with a one-time credit related to the conversion of the Bank's debit card platform from Elan to Fiserv recognized in the first six months of 2019. Technology spending at the Bank remains focused on three primary objectives: delivering new or improved customer experience, reducing costs through simplification and automation of internal processes, and securing customer and Bank confidential information.

Deposit insurance expense decreased \$71,000, or 14%, from \$508,000 for the first six months of 2019 to \$437,000 in the first six months of 2020. The decrease was driven by the application of Small Bank Assessment Credits by the FDIC in 2020 and by a lower assessed rate in the first six months of 2020 compared to the same period of last year. In the first six months of 2020, the Bank recognized a total credit of \$84,000 related to the fourth quarter of 2019 assessment period, which partially offset the first six months of 2020 deposit insurance expense. There were no Small Bank Assessment Credits recognized during the first six months of 2019. At June 30, 2020, there was no remaining balance of credits to be applied to future periods. The decrease was partially offset by an increase in the size of the balance sheet, as this charge is calculated based on total assets. Deposit insurance expense consists of premiums paid to the FDIC and the Massachusetts DIF. The FDIC assessment rate is determined based on several factors, including capitalization, asset growth, earnings, use of brokered deposits and level of non-performing assets, among others, and is calculated on an assessment base that takes into consideration the Bank's average total assets and average tangible equity, among other factors. The DIF assessment rate is based on an institution's risk category, which is defined based on similar factors. The Bank carefully manages its balance sheet to control the deposit insurance expense associated with excess liquidity.

Marketing expenses decreased by \$25,000, or 8%, to \$284,000 for the first six months of 2020, driven partially by a temporary decline in advertising activity as a result of COVID-19. The Bank continues to carefully manage these expenses and focus marketing efforts on the Bank's Commercial Real Estate and Specialized Deposit Groups.

Foreclosure expenses include expenses associated with the collection and foreclosure process, such as legal, tax, appraisal, insurance and other related foreclosure expenses. These expenses may be recovered when the loan returns to performing status or when the Bank exercises its remedies, as they are generally secured by the Bank's mortgages. Such recoveries, if any, are reflected in future periods as contra-expense. Foreclosure related expenses increased by \$87,000 when comparing the six months ended June 30, 2020 to the same period in 2019. The increase is primarily due to expenses related to the foreclosure on a residential loan in Nantucket during the first quarter of 2020. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had foreclosed assets of \$3.8 million, consisting only of the Nantucket property, including repairs and improvements completed by the Bank following foreclosure. At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2019, the Bank had no properties in foreclosed assets. The Bank continues to manage credit quality energetically.

Other general and administrative expenses, which include director fees, supplies, deposit related losses and audit-related expenses, among others, increased \$98,000, or 7%, when comparing the two periods, reflecting higher loan related, legal and other miscellaneous expenses.

Income Taxes

The Bank recognizes income taxes under the asset and liability method in which deferred tax assets and liabilities are established for the temporary difference between the accounting basis and the tax basis of the Bank's assets and liabilities at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when the amounts related to such temporary differences are realized or settled. The Bank's deferred tax asset is reviewed quarterly by management as to the realizability of such asset.

During the first six months of 2020, the Bank recorded \$7.4 million, or 28.6% of pre-tax income, in tax expense as compared to \$7.0 million, or 27.3%, for the same period in 2019. The higher effective tax rate in the first six months of 2020 was driven by unrealized losses on equity securities recognized during the first half of 2020 as compared to unrealized gains in the same period in the prior year, as these securities are held at a tax-advantaged subsidiary. Excess tax benefits recognized on the exercise of stock options during both the first six months of 2019 and 2020 contributed to lower the effective tax rate in both periods.

BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS COMPARISON AT JUNE 30, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2019

Assets totaled \$2.724 billion at June 30, 2020, as compared to \$2.590 billion at December 31, 2019, an increase of \$133.5 million, or 10% annualized. The Bank continued to carefully manage the balance of excess reserves held at the Federal Reserve Bank, in order to minimize the carrying cost of its on-balance sheet liquidity.

Securities, Short-term Investments and FHLB Stock

Securities were \$54.8 million at June 30, 2020, an increase of \$7.6 million when compared to \$47.2 million at December 31, 2019, reflecting equity security purchases completed during the first quarter of 2020, partially offset by a decline in the fair value of the portfolio and sales of equity securities in the first six months of 2020. The fair value of equity securities fluctuates with the performance of equity markets. There were no sales, maturities or calls of debt securities and principal paydowns were immaterial. At December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020, there were no unrealized gains or losses on debt securities available for sale reported in accumulated other comprehensive income. The fair value of debt securities fluctuates with the movement of interest rates.

At June 30, 2020, less than 1% of the securities were debt securities issued or guaranteed by government-sponsored enterprises. For the most part, these securities are offered at a fixed rate and term and at spreads above comparable U.S. Treasury issues.

At June 30, 2020, equity securities accounted for approximately 100% of the investment portfolio. At June 30, 2020, the Bank held an \$8.6 million investment in the CRA Fund, a mutual fund which invests in securities which qualify under the CRA securities test. Additionally, the portfolio included \$46.2 million in common equity securities. The Bank's common equity securities are not viewed as a source of liquidity and are managed to produce superior returns on capital over a longer time horizon. The Bank's process is focused on identifying businesses with strong returns on capital, owner-oriented management teams, good reinvestment opportunities or capital discipline, and reasonable valuations. The portfolio is concentrated in a relatively small number of investees in the financial services and technology areas, including other banks, diversified and specialized insurance companies, credit rating agencies, payment networks, technology companies and one industrial company. The Bank receives two sources of advantageous tax treatment through these investments. First, dividend distributions from these companies to the Bank are partially excluded from the Bank's taxable income due to the Dividends Received Deduction ("DRD"). Second, to the extent that these companies are capable of internal reinvestment at high rates of return or deploy capital via tax-advantaged repurchases, the deferred tax liability associated with any long-term unrealized gains on our investments constitutes an interest-free source of financing. During the first six months of 2020, the Bank continued to increase its absolute allocation to such investments during the disruption in the equity markets.

As a member of the FHLB of Boston, the Bank is required to hold a Membership Stock Investment plus an Activity-based Stock Investment in the FHLB, which is based primarily on the amount of FHLB borrowings. The Bank recorded dividends totaling \$736,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, as compared to \$704,000 for the same period in 2019. At June 30, 2020, the Bank held \$20.4 million in FHLB stock compared to \$24.9 million at December 31, 2019. The decrease was driven by a lower balance of FHLB borrowings, as the Bank increased use of more attractively priced wholesale deposits in lieu of FHLB advances during the second quarter of 2020.

Loans and Foreclosed Real Estate

During the first six months of 2020, net loans outstanding increased by \$154.7 million to \$2.382 billion, from \$2.227 billion at December 31, 2019 attributable primarily to originated loans of \$383.2 million, partially offset by payoffs and amortization. This includes \$53.3 million of commercial real estate loans originated in the Washington D.C. metropolitan area ("WMA"). Comparably, loan originations for the same period in 2019 were \$269.8 million, including \$54.4 million of commercial real estate loans originated in the WMA. Loans outstanding in the WMA at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 were \$307.9 million and \$261.6 million, respectively. At June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, net loans outstanding represented 87% and 86% of assets, respectively. Mortgage loans continue to account for more than 99% of the loan portfolio.

The Bank participated in the SBA PPP Program established by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act of 2020 ("CARES Act"). However, the Bank originated a limited number of loans to a mix of existing and new customers totaling \$9.3 million. The Bank intends to sell the expected forgiveness portion of such loans to the SBA at the earliest opportunity available.

WMA: The Bank began lending to commercial real estate borrowers in the WMA in November 2016, after two years of research and preparation. In 2019, the Bank opened a commercial lending office on a temporary location and hired a commercial real estate lender. In February 2020, the Bank acquired a property in the Georgetown neighborhood of Washington, D.C. and has begun working with its architects to renovate the property in anticipation of opening this permanent commercial banking office in late 2020 or early 2021. The Bank also utilizes existing staff in its Commercial Real Estate Group and Specialized Deposit Group with experience in the WMA, on a fly-away basis from our main office.

The Bank identified the WMA as an attractive opportunity for three reasons. First, the region has favorable economic characteristics that will support long-term investments in commercial real estate. It is the capital of the world's largest economy, it is an international economic gateway, it has the highest household median income of any of the nation's major metropolitan areas, and it has a relatively high concentration of young people. Second, the commercial real estate product in the market bears significant similarity to Boston, characterized by high density, urban infill development, transit-oriented multifamily, and scarcity imposed by land supply and restrictions on vertical development. Third, we believe that the banking market in Washington, D.C. has experienced a level of consolidation and disruption that has left smaller and mid-sized real estate investors underserved as compared to the Boston

market. Although we are relatively new to this marketplace, we believe that our history as one of America's oldest banks and our family management team provide stability and surety of execution that is valued by our customers. After three years of operation in the market, we have gained increasing confidence in this thesis. We view this as an attractive opportunity for internal capital allocation and superior to geographically proximate, product-adjacent businesses like wealth management, insurance, or commercial-industrial lending in our home marketplace. The Bank is not currently originating any residential owner-occupied or commercial construction loans in the WMA, but may do so in the future.

The Bank approaches prospective borrowers directly via advertising programs, and indirectly via intermediaries such as attorneys, accountants and mortgage brokers. The Bank also has existing Boston-based customers with real estate investment holdings in both the Massachusetts and WMA markets.

All WMA underwriting and approval processes are identical to those utilized in the Boston marketplace and all loans are reviewed and approved by the Bank's Executive Committee and when larger than \$1.5 million, by the Bank's full Board of Directors. A member of the Executive Committee performs a site visit for every collateral property and the full Executive Committee performs collateral site visits at least twice annually. During the COVID-19 pandemic, some site visits may follow origination if the asset and the built environment around the asset are well known to the Bank. The Bank uses one Arlington, VA-based law firm to advise on all of its transactional needs, with oversight on each individual transaction by the Bank's primary real estate counsel in Boston. The Bank uses the same environmental assessment firm in Boston and Washington, D.C. to ensure quality of execution and manage risk. Once closed, these loans are subject to all of the Bank's regular quality control and portfolio management processes.

The Bank has made initial inroads into developing deposit relationships with WMA borrowers and services these customers remotely through the Bank's Specialized Deposit Group ("SDG") in Hingham. The SDG is now servicing WMA deposit customers that do not have a lending relationship with the Bank and has a full-time relationship manager in the WMA.

Loans are carried net of the allowance for loan losses. The allowance is maintained at a level to absorb losses within the loan portfolio. At June 30, 2020, the allowance had a balance of \$16.5 million, as compared to \$15.4 million at December 31, 2019. The allowance for loan losses represented 0.69% of gross loans as of both June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

At June 30, 2020, the Bank allocated \$84,000 to loans classified as impaired. At December 31, 2019, \$104,000 was allocated to impaired loans. The Bank works closely with delinquent mortgagors to bring their loans current and commences foreclosure proceedings if the mortgagor is unable to satisfy their outstanding obligation. Although regulatory changes have slowed the foreclosure process in recent years, the Bank continues to pursue delinquencies vigorously.

At June 30, 2020, there were 11 loans classified as non-accrual totaling \$2.7 million, as compared to five non-accrual loans totaling \$5.6 million at December 31, 2019. At June 30, 2020 non-performing assets were 0.24% of total assets, as compared to 0.22% at December 31, 2019. A single non-performing residential loan on Nantucket comprised the substantial majority of non-performing assets at December 31, 2019. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the Bank purchased the property at a foreclosure auction, resulting in the transfer of the loan to foreclosed assets at fair value at the foreclosure date. Based on the results of the foreclosure auction, management reassessed the fair value of the property, moving it to the lower end of the range of fair value, and recorded a \$681,000 charge-off against the allowance for loan losses at the foreclosure date. The Bank has completed repairs and improvements to the property and has listed it for sale. The Bank is pursuing litigation against the borrowers for breach of contract and bank fraud in attempt to collect the deficiency owed. The Bank has litigation pending in state court with respect to this matter, including a motion for summary judgement, but the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court has imposed certain tolling periods as a result of COVID-19 which have delayed our recovery efforts. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had \$3.8 million in foreclosed assets as compared to no foreclosed assets at December 31, 2019.

Management believes that its loans classified as non-accrual are significantly collateralized, pose minimal risk of loss to the Bank, and the allowance for loan loss reserves allocated to these loans is sufficient to absorb such losses, if any. However, management continues to monitor the loan portfolio and additional reserves will be recorded if necessary.

Below is a summary of non-accrual loans and foreclosed real estate:

	December 31, 2019	June : 202							
	(Dollars in Thousands)								
Non-accrual loans:									
Residential mortgages	\$ 5,092	\$ 1,	,154						
Commercial mortgages	508		504						
Construction	<u> </u>		925						
Home equity	<u> </u>		92						
Total non-accrual loans	5,600	2,	,675	_					
Foreclosed real estate	_	3.	,811						
Total non-performing assets	\$ 5,600	\$ 6,	,486	_					
Percent of non-accrual loans to:									
Total loans	0.25 %	0	0.11	%					
Total assets	0.22 %	6	0.10	%					
Percent of non-performing assets to:									
Total loans and foreclosed real estate	0.25 %	o l	0.27	%					
Total assets	0.22 %	6	0.24	%					
Allowance for loan losses to total loans	0.69 %	6	0.69	%					

The CARES Act, Section 4103, stipulates that a financial institution may elect to not apply GAAP requirements to loan modifications related to the COVID-19 pandemic that would otherwise be categorized as a TDR, and suspends the determination of loan modifications related to the COVID-19 pandemic from being treated as TDRs. Modifications within the scope of the suspension include forbearance agreements, interest-rate modifications, repayment plans, and any other similar arrangements that defer or delay payments of principal or interest. In accordance with this statute, the Bank has elected not to apply GAAP requirements to such loan modifications with respect to categorization of loans as TDRs. The Bank is also aware that some financial institutions may opt to recognize income on an accrual basis on loans for which they are not collecting interest pursuant to extended forbearance agreements. Unless such contracts are modified by legislative action that mandates the deferral of interest without regard to need, the Bank does not believe such an approach is appropriate.

The Bank generally originates and services all of its loans, both residential and commercial, for its own account. Consequently, the Bank is generally not subject to the provisions of the CARES Act with respect to forbearance, deferral, and foreclosure moratoriums, as such provisions apply only to federally-guaranteed mortgages. The Bank also operates in multiple jurisdictions, including Massachusetts and the District of Columbia, where local authorities have passed legislation mandating some form of mortgage forbearance and/or a prohibition on foreclosure action on residential and/or commercial property.

Since March of 2020, the Bank has received a limited number of inquiries from both residential and commercial borrowers seeking information about potential options for loan modifications or deferrals. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had modified 1% of the Bank's total loan portfolio by number and less than 3% in dollars in response to COVID-19. As of June 2020, the Bank was no longer receiving regular requests for loan modifications.

The Bank expects commercial counterparties to perform according to the terms of our contracts with them. In the event that a commercial customer seeks to convert to an interest-only structure, the Bank will generally consider the borrower's relationship with the Bank, record of performance, collateral strength, deposit balances, and alternative sources of repayment when evaluating such requests. Generally the Bank will allow for temporary interest-only payments when the loan-to-value ratio is strongly protective of the Bank's senior position. While the Bank will generally work collaboratively with customers to identify reasonable restructuring solutions, it is also the senior secured lender in most of its commercial transactions. The Bank does not invest in the equity component of these transactions and, therefore, it does not share in the profits and it does not share in the losses, if any, prior to the impairment of the equity. The Bank will generally require the customer to fully fund an interest-carry reserve for the modification period and/or deliver additional consideration (including additional collateral or additional guarantors) in exchange for the modification. The Bank has approved loan modifications with commercial counterparties on a limited basis, and in all such cases, the Bank received new financial statements and tax returns for all obligors. The Bank has not granted interest deferrals on any commercial loans and has not modified any construction loans as a result of COVID-19.

The Bank has worked with those residential borrowers experiencing extraordinary economic hardship to craft solutions to sustain them through this pandemic. The Bank will generally provide such borrowers with a three to six month interest only period. The Bank generally will not reduce or defer interest payments or suspend tax escrow unless the borrower presents extraordinary need. To the extent required by law in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the Bank has granted short-term interest-only modifications to a limited number of residential mortgage customers that have been impacted by COVID-19. The Bank has also deferred the collection of interest on 4 residential loans, with total outstanding loan balances of \$504,000. One of these loans has subsequently resumed full contractual payments.

The table below presents the number and outstanding balances of loans that the Bank has modified as a result of COVID-19 compared as a percentage of the total number and outstanding balances of the Bank's loan portfolio as of June 30, 2020, by loan category. This table reflects all modifications in effect as of June 30, 2020 and as loans return to the original contractual terms, they will no longer be reflected on this table.

	Outs	Outstanding		Modified		fied
	# of Loans	Balance (2)	# of Loans	Balance	# of Loans	Balance
(In thousands, unaudited)						
Residential Real Estate (1)	2,534	\$ 706,733	35	\$ 13,164	1.38 %	1.86 %
Commercial Real Estate	1,422	1,519,304	17	55,538	1.20	3.66
Construction	67	159,677	_	_	_	_
Commercial and Consumer	573	9,749	_	_	_	_
Total Loans	4,596	\$ 2,395,463	52	\$ 68,702	1.13 %	2.87 %

- (1) Includes Home Equity lines of credit
- (2) Gross loans, before net deferred loan origination costs and the allowance for loan losses.

Other Assets

The Bank held \$12.8 million in bank-owned life insurance at June 30, 2020 as compared to \$12.7 million at December 31, 2019. The \$117,000 increase during the first six months of 2020 is due to increases in the cash surrender value of policies insuring the life of a current Bank executive. The policies accrete at a variable rate of interest with minimum stated guaranteed rates. The Bank monitors the financial strength and counterparty credit ratings of the policy issuers and has determined that at June 30, 2020, two of three issuers were rated at or above Bank guidelines. The third issuer retained a rating from A.M. Best one notch below Bank guidelines at A-, while the issuer's Standard and Poor ("S&P") rating was below Bank guidelines at BBB (Good) with a stable outlook.

As of June 30, 2020, the right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability related to operating leases for some of the Bank's banking offices was \$1.2 million. The right-of-use asset is included in other assets and the lease liability is included in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the first quarter of 2020, the Bank sold the property located at 400 Gannett Road, Scituate and recorded a \$218,000 gain. As announced in 2019, the Bank closed its South Weymouth location at 32 Pleasant St. in mid-January 2020. The Bank is actively marketing this property for sale and expects to sell the property in 2020. The carrying value of this property at June 30, 2020 was \$385,000 and management believes this amount is not material to be reported separately as assets held for sale. Therefore, this amount is included in premises and equipment, net on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Also during the first quarter of 2020, the Bank concluded the purchase of a property in the Georgetown neighborhood of Washington, D.C., and has begun working with its architects to renovate the property in anticipation of opening a new commercial banking office in early 2021. In June 2020, the Bank announced its intention to close its Beacon Hill branch in the fall of 2020, pending regulatory approval from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Division of Banks and non-objection by the FDIC. The Bank plans to consolidate its client service operations in Boston at its South End office.

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Bank made a \$1.5 million investment in the common stock of Founders Bank, a de novo bank organization in Washington, D.C. Founders Bank has received all required regulatory approvals and opened in April 2020. During the first quarter of 2020, the Bank received back \$470,000 of this investment, which resulted in a proportional decrease in the number of shares purchased. The Bank remained the largest shareholder after this transaction.

Deposits

Deposits increased by \$233.5 million to \$2.054 billion at June 30, 2020, from \$1.821 billion at December 31, 2019. Certificate balances increased by \$75.7 million from December 31, 2019 to June 30, 2020 and non-certificate accounts, which include regular, money market, NOW and demand deposits, increased by \$157.8 million during the same period. The increase in certificate accounts was primarily driven by the Bank's reallocation of the wholesale funding mix during the first six months of 2020, as the Bank allowed FHLB advances to mature during this period and replaced them with wholesale time deposits. The increase in non-certificate accounts reflects strong growth in the Bank's retail and commercial deposits during the first six months of 2020. Non-certificate accounts represent 49.6% of total deposits at June 30, 2020, as compared to 47.3% at December 31, 2019.

Other banks and credit unions in the Bank's market areas, banking services through the Internet, and mutual funds make up the Bank's primary competition for deposits. The Bank's ability to attract and retain deposits depends upon satisfaction of depositors' requirements with respect to insurance, product, rate and service. The Bank offers traditional deposit products, competitive rates, convenient branch locations, ATMs, debit cards and Internet-based banking for consumers and commercial account holders. The Bank also opens deposit accounts, including checking accounts, money market accounts, and certificates of deposit, directly online to personal customers. Occasionally, the Bank implements special offerings based on market conditions and the competitive environment. The Bank also offers limited certificate of deposit products using national Internet listing services and brokered deposits. These alternatives, at times, provide the Bank with a source of funding across different maturities at lower cost and/or longer

duration than may be available via retail or other wholesale channels. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had \$483.6 million in deposits from these sources, as compared to \$391.2 million at December 31, 2019. The Bank carefully manages its wholesale funding mix allocation based on market conditions to optimize the Bank's cost on interest-bearing liabilities and net interest margin. This approach has allowed the Bank to maintain deposit balances to fund lending activity and operate with an elevated level of liquidity.

Deposits are insured in full through the combination of the FDIC and the DIF. Generally, separately insured deposit accounts are insured up to \$250,000 by the FDIC and deposit balances in excess of this amount are insured by the DIF. DIF insurance provides an advantage for the Bank as some competitors cannot offer this coverage.

Below is a summary of deposits:

	Deposit Balances by Type							
	December 31, 2019		% of		June 30,	% of		
			Total	2020		Total		
			(Dollars in	Thousand	ds)			
Non-certificate accounts								
Regular	\$	82,582	4.5 %	\$	93,878	4.6 %		
Money market deposits		534,884	29.4		628,782	30.6		
NOW		6,246	0.3		6,818	0.3		
Demand		237,554	13.1		289,574	14.1		
Total non-certificate accounts	_	861,266	47.3	-	1,019,052	49.6		
Term certificates of less than \$250,000		657,708	36.1		734,857	35.8		
Term certificates of \$250,000 or more		301,860	16.6		300,379	14.6		
Total certificate accounts		959,568	52.7	-	1,035,236	50.4		
Total deposits	\$	1,820,834	100.0 %	\$	2,054,288	100.0 %		

Borrowings

Borrowings, which include FHLB advances and FRB advances through the discount window, were \$385.4 million, or 14% of total assets, at June 30, 2020, as compared to \$505.2 million, or 20% of total assets, at December 31, 2019. The June 30, 2020 balance included \$12.0 million of FRB advances taken in the second quarter of 2020. The Bank continued to manage its wholesale funding mix opportunistically during the first six months of 2020. During this period, borrowings decreased by \$119.8 million, as the Bank replaced maturing FHLB advances with wholesale time deposits. FHLB advances are primarily fixed rate, with all of them scheduled to mature over the next twelve months. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had \$75.0 million of Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") indexed advances and at December 31, 2019 all FHLB advances were fixed rate. FRB advances are fixed rate in nature with 90 days maturity.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Bank regularly assesses its liquidity position by forecasting incoming and outgoing cash flows. In some cases, contractual maturity dates are used to anticipate cash flows. However, when an asset or liability is subject to early repayment or redemption at the discretion of the issuer or customer, cash flows can be difficult to predict. Generally, these prepayment rights are exercised when it is most financially favorable to the issuer or customer.

The Bank's initial source of liquidity is cash and cash equivalents which comprised 8% of total assets at June 30, 2020. A significant portion of this consists of overnight cash balances at the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston, which are immediately accessible for liquidity. The Bank reduced these overnight cash balances during 2019 and 2020 to minimize the carrying cost of on-balance sheet liquidity.

Mortgage-backed securities, which comprise less than 1% of the portfolio, are subject to repayment at the discretion of the underlying borrower and are not considered material to the overall balance sheet or liquidity targets.

Marketable common equity holdings, although liquid, are not viewed as a source of liquidity and are managed to produce superior returns on capital over a longer time horizon.

Investment in FHLB stock is illiquid.

Residential loans are susceptible to principal repayment at the discretion of the borrower. Commercial mortgage loans, while subject to significant penalties for early repayment in most cases, can also prepay at the borrower's discretion. In the first six months of 2020, prepayment rates were higher when compared to the previous year.

The Bank invests in key executive life insurance policies that are illiquid during the life of the executive. Such policies total \$12.8 million, or less than 1% of total assets, at June 30, 2020.

Non-certificate deposit balances can generally be withdrawn from the Bank at any time. Retail certificates of deposit, with predefined maturity dates and subject to early redemption penalties, can also be withdrawn subject to the discretion of the Bank.

Internet listing service certificates are offered on the same terms as retail certificates, although the Bank generally does not permit early withdrawal. Brokered certificates generally may not be withdrawn before the stated maturity. The Bank estimates the volatility of its deposits in light of the general economic climate and recent actual experience. Over the past 10 years, deposits have exceeded withdrawals resulting in net cash inflows from depositors.

With the exception of a \$75 million, 3 month SOFR indexed advance, all of the Bank's borrowings were fixed in terms of rate and maturity at June 30, 2020. None of the advances can be called for earlier repayment at the discretion of the issuer.

The Bank also monitors its off-balance sheet items. See "Commitments" appearing in Note 2 within the "Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements" section of this document. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had \$281.4 million in commitments to extend credit, as compared to \$287.2 million at December 31, 2019.

The Bank takes each of these preceding issues into consideration when measuring its liquidity position. Specific measurements include the Bank's cash flow position from the 30-day to 90-day horizon, the level of volatile liabilities to earning assets and loan to deposit ratios. Additionally, the Bank "shocks" its cash flows by assuming significant cash outflows in both non-certificate and certificate deposit balances. At June 30, 2020, each measurement was within predefined Bank guidelines.

To supplement its liquidity position, should the need arise, the Bank maintains its membership in the FHLB where it is eligible to obtain both short and long-term credit advances. As of June 30, 2020, the Bank can borrow up to approximately \$1.308 billion to meet its borrowing needs, based on the Bank's available qualified collateral which consists primarily of one-to-four family residential mortgage loans, certain multifamily residential property and commercial mortgage loans. The Bank can pledge other mortgage loans and assets as collateral to secure additional borrowings. Additionally, through the Federal Reserve Bank of Boston ("FRBB"), the Bank can borrow up to \$17.5 million through the discount window based on the Bank pledging its home equity loan portfolio. The Bank can pledge other mortgage loans and assets as collateral to secure additional borrowings with the FRBB. At June 30, 2020, the Bank had \$373.4 million in advances outstanding from the FHLB and had \$934.4 million in available unused capacity (net of accrued interest on outstanding advances). This compares to an unused capacity of \$711.5 million at December 31, 2019. The FHLB unused capacity increased in the first six months of 2020 as a result of the decrease in borrowings. Total FHLB capacity increased by \$90.6 million from December 31, 2019 as the Bank continued to pledge collateral. At June 30, 2020, the Bank has a \$12.0 million advance outstanding at the FRBB.

At June 30, 2020, the Bank had capital of \$264.0 million, or 9.7% of total assets, as compared to \$247.2 million, or 9.5% of total assets, at December 31, 2019. During the six months ended June 30, 2020, stockholders' equity increased by \$16.8 million due primarily to net income for the period of \$18.5 million, partially offset by the declaration of dividends of \$0.85 per share, which reduced capital by \$1.8 million.

Massachusetts-chartered savings banks that are insured by the FDIC are subject to minimum capital maintenance requirements. Regulatory guidelines define the minimum amount of qualifying capital an institution must maintain as a percentage of risk-weighted assets and average total assets. The Bank's ratios exceeded these regulatory capital requirements at June 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

The following table details the Bank's actual capital ratios and minimum regulatory ratios as of December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020.

			Minin Capi		Minimum T Capitalized U	
	Act	cual	Require		Corrective Active	
	Amounts	Ratio	Amounts	Ratio	Amounts	Ratio
			(Dollars in	Thousands)		
December 31, 2019						
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets	\$ 262,599	13.57 %	\$ 203,259	10.50 %	\$ 193,580	10.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-						
Weighted Assets	247,223	12.77	135,506	7.00	125,827	6.50
Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets	247,223	12.77	164,543	8.50	154,864	8.00
Tier 1 Capital to Average Assets	247,223	9.84	100,504	4.00	125,630	5.00
June 30, 2020						
Total Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets	\$ 280,505	13.38 %	\$ 220,172	10.50 %	\$ 209,688	10.00 %
Common Equity Tier 1 Capital to Risk-						
Weighted Assets	264,048	12.59	146,781	7.00	136,297	6.50
Tier 1 Capital to Risk-Weighted Assets	264,048	12.59	178,235	8.50	167,750	8.00
Tier 1 Capital to Average Assets	264,048	9.72	108,642	4.00	135,803	5.00

^{*} Minimum risk-based regulatory capital ratios and amounts at December 31, 2019 and June 30, 2020 include the applicable minimum risk-based capital ratios and capital conservation buffer of 2.5%

Item 3 – Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The earnings of most banking institutions are exposed to interest rate risk because their balance sheets, both assets and liabilities, are predominantly interest-bearing. It is the Bank's objective to minimize, to the degree prudently possible, its exposure to interest rate risk, bearing in mind that the Bank, by its very nature, will always be in the business of taking on interest rate risk. Interest rate risk is monitored on a quarterly basis by the Asset Liability Committee (the "ALCO") and Board of Directors of the Bank. The ALCO is composed of members of Bank Management and the Executive Committee of the Board. The ALCO establishes and monitors the various components of the balance sheet including volume, maturities, pricing and mix of assets along with funding sources. The goal is to balance liquidity, interest rate risk and profitability. The primary tool used in managing interest rate risk is income simulation modeling. Income simulation modeling measures changes in net interest income by projecting the future composition of the Bank's balance sheet and applying different interest rate scenarios. Management incorporates numerous assumptions into the simulation model, such as asset prepayment speeds, balance sheet growth and non-maturity deposits elasticity. Management believes that there has been no material changes in the interest rate risk reported in the Bank's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, filed with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The information is contained in the Form 10-K within the section "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk."

Item 4 – Controls and Procedures

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Bank's management, including the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), of the effectiveness, as of June 30, 2020, of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2020, the CEO and CFO concluded that, as of such date, the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

(b) Changes in Internal Control

There were no significant changes in the Bank's internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e), during the quarter ended June 30, 2020 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank's internal control over financial reporting.

PART II – OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1 – Legal Proceedings

Legal claims arise from time to time in the normal course of business, which, in the opinion of management, will have no material effect on the Bank's consolidated financial statements.

Item 1A – Risk Factors

There have generally been no material changes to the nature of the risk factors previously disclosed in the Bank's most recent Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 filed with the FDIC, although the potential impact of all such risk factors has been intensified as a result of COVID-19 pandemic.

In particular, we operate in a highly regulated industry, and existing or new laws and regulations, or changes in them, could limit or restrict our activities and could have a material adverse impact on our operations. Although we are generally not subject to the provisions of the CARES Act that regulate the servicing of federally-backed mortgage loans, we may be subject to local legislative and regulatory changes that restrict our ability to foreclose when certain residential loans fall into default and may restrict our ability to impose late fees on such loans. Such legal changes may force the Bank to defer collection of interest, without penalty or fee, and without any showing of financial hardship or need by the borrower. Our operations may also be impacted by changes in laws or regulations governing the activities of multifamily and small business landlords to whom we have extended commercial mortgage loans. To the extent that such legal changes may allow tenants to avoid or defer rental payments, ongoing cash flow from properties that secure our mortgage loans may be reduced. Depending on the extent of such legal changes, the Bank may also re-evaluate its approach to new originations, particularly with respect to residential and small multifamily commercial loans. This could have a significant impact on the Bank's ability to originate new loans that meet the Bank's credit criteria and may have a negative impact on future growth, if any. To the extent that the Bank may view such legislation as unconstitutional and may challenge such legislation via litigation, either alone or in conjunction with other lenders, there is a risk of significantly elevated legal expense associated with such action. Finally, recent legislation has limited the ability of many lenders to provide accurate data to the credit reporting agencies with respect to delinquent payments by borrowers. To the extent that the Bank utilizes such data to assess borrower creditworthiness, particularly on residential owner-occupied loans, the absence of such data may negatively impact the Bank's underwriting process.

Additionally, we rely on well-functioning civil and bankruptcy courts to exercise our remedies and access our collateral in the event of default. To the extent such courts are closed or limited to emergency matters, there may be a material adverse impact on our operations. We rely on such courts for a myriad of collections-related litigation, including foreclosure actions, contract suits, and small-claims actions. Although the Bank does not have and has not historically had a high volume of litigation, the Bank's very ability to exercise its remedies quickly and vigorously provides a strong incentive for performance on the part of the Bank's counterparties. To the extent that the prospect of such action is diminished by the perceived or real incapacity of courts, counterparties may be incentivized to delay or cease payment. As of June 30, 2020, both federal and state courts in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts were in the process of reopening but had not yet resumed full normal operations.

Item 2 – Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3 – Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4 – Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5 – Other Information

None.

Item 6 – Exhibits

Exhibit No. 31.1 Certifications – Chief Executive Officer 31.2 Certifications – Chief Financial Officer 32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 – Chief Executive Officer 32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350 – Chief Financial Officer

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

HINGHAM INSTITUTION FOR SAVINGS

Date: <u>August 5, 2020</u> /<u>s/</u>

Robert H. Gaughen, Jr. Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020 /s/

Cristian A. Melej Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

- I, Robert H. Gaughen, Jr., certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Hingham Institution for Savings;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2020

 $/_{\rm S}/$

Robert H. Gaughen, Jr.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

I, Cristian A. Melej, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the Hingham Institution for Savings;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures, and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors:
 - a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: August 5, 2020

/s/
Cristian A. Melej
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Hingham Institution for Savings (the "Bank") for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned Robert H. Gaughen, Jr., Chief Executive Officer of the Bank, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Bank.

 $/_{\rm S}/$

Robert H. Gaughen, Jr. Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Hingham Institution for Savings (the "Bank") for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2020, as filed with the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation on the date hereof (the "Report"), the undersigned Cristian A. Melej, Chief Financial Officer of the Bank, hereby certifies pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

- 1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- 2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Bank.

/s/

Cristian A. Melej Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Date: August 5, 2020